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Income 

GWA Capftal 

ConsultIng fee income 

Mercer Stuck 

Income 
GWA (Alpitill 

COfl!;uir'ng ;ee In;:lmp 

ivlen:ef Stock 

Totall nCOf1H~ 

l;xpense 

Net fm.:umc 

GWA Advisors, LLC 

lOU 
Jal'l- Qec 11 

$184,2&5 .. 11.') 

54,5octOO 

lQ·l.,~ 

71,854.89 

00000.00 

$ 1.1,8S4JI9 

2Q12 

Jan· Dec 12 

Sp'O,11SJ30) 

69,SOO.on 

29,8>0,00 
29,075 .. 14 

Q~9 
g 19,016,14 

Nate :1 

Note 2 

Note 1 Adv;sors has no c'xpenies. Advisor owns Captlaf Partners 

All meome and expen5JeS from Capllal Partners are reflected 
if! thi;; line Iter, 

Represents stock grant awards. ThiS ilmount 15 shawn for 

Til); pUrpOSI".5, as lnrome, howetf{:r it 1$ NOT CASH ilno carne! 

or sold fo, one 'leaL 
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GWA CAPfTALPARTNERS, LLC 

PrDflt & Luss 

January through December 2Q12 

Gain on capital Actount 

GWA Investments 

Other Income 

Total Income 

Moving (lCpense 

Bank Service Charge 

Data Service 

Depreciation 

Dues and Su!:lscrlpt:ons 

Equipment Purc.hases 
Ucenses and Permits 

Marketing and sales 

Meals and Entertainment 

Miscellaneous 

Office Supplies 

Parkjng 

Postage and Delivery 

ACCounting 

Legal 

Other Professional Services 

Total Profcssiona' Fees 6,529.95 

Rent· OffICe 

Rent· Other 

Repairs and Maintenal1ce 

Software 

InromeTax 

Taxes" Other 

Total Taxes 

Telephone 

A:rfare 

Lodging 
ott>e:r 

Tax1 

Tqmsportation 

Total Travel 

Total Expense 

Net Income 

2,400.00 

6,271.25 

2012 

Accrual Basis 

$(7,191.72} 

:U9 
$(7,1B8.43) 

$5))61.81 

9900 

7,520.9, 

393.69 

743.39 

1,746.07 

J..,047.00 

68.33 

6,332.47 

16.l.80 

1,518.7:1 

2,183.89 

266.82 

5,657.00 

460.00 

412.95 

!tlBO.OO 

3,925.00 

2,004.64 

32D.74 

1,600.00 

BOO.OO 

4,308.01 

2,56002 

2.880.72 

423.77 

25000 

15634 

$ 63,085.12 

$(10,273.55} 
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GWA. CAPITAlPARTNERS,llC 

Profit & Loss 
January througb December 2011 

Gain on capital Actount 
GWA lrM!stments 

Total Income 

Bank Service Charge 

Data Service 
Depreciation 
Dues and Subscriptions 

Equipment Purchases 
licenses and PermItS 

Marketing and Sales 

Meals and Entertainment 
MlscellaneDus 

Office Supplies 
parldng 

Postage and Delivery 

Accounting 
Other Professional Seovices 
Total Professional Fees 6,192.63 

Rent - Other 
Repairsand MainteMnC@ 

Software 
Taxes 
Telephone 

Airfare 

Lodging 
other 
Taxi 

Transportation 

Total Travel 

Tota/Expenses 

Interest Income 

Nettnwme 

2011 

Accrual Basis 

S{10.S2S.S9! 
5(10,528.59) 

49.00 

18.246.08 

539.00 

1,379.48 

4.714.43 

1,469.00 
64.90 

4,71831 
9.99 

1,508.99 

1,976.03 

206.92 

5,455.00 

737.63 

3,968.00 

5,641.25 

1,130.38 

3,954.00 

5,117.29 

3,312.46 

9All.07 

74.24 

245.00 

308.40 

13.411.17 

$74,%96.85 

1.33 

$(84,&Z4.11, 

~'§'ER014965 
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• 

GWA Assets and LiabiUties 

Personal 
Cash 
Stocl< 

Capital Partners 
Cash 

Stock 

Advi,orll 
Cash 

TOTALS 

Cash 
Stock 

Retirement Plan for 
Decurion Corporation '" 

Cash! Stock Value 

Debt and Liabilities 

• 

(As Of August 31.2013) 

Cub Stoek 

$92,289 
$143.975 

99.456 

o 

S243,431 

$44,804 
51,618 

VIle Ulle 

$ {) 
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• 
• 

Averase Combined SpendinC by catesory 

1/1/2011 through 12/31/2012 

(ate&Of}' 

Auto lease-lMK 

Auto:Fuel 
Auta:Fuel-LMK 

Auto:1 n50rance-Guv 

Auto:lnsurance-LMlC 

Auto'License - Fers 

Auto :Service 

Apartment Rent -GUV 

B.nkCharge 

Charitable 

Christmas + Gifts 

Chrls1mas + GiftHMK 

College Fees - LMK 

Clothlng-<1uy 
CIothing-LMK 

~pendent Support' LMK 

Entertainment - Guy 
Entertalnment-LMK 

Gfoceries:Fast Foods 

Groceries;Food Store 

Groceries:Food Store-L"'K 

H ousehofd:Ga,dener 

Household:Maintenance 

Household:Malntenance-lMK 

Houiing:Expenses (Wells) 

Housing:Expense (HB) 

Housing: IntetesH.MK-WelIs 

H()v~ln! 'rwteresHMK-SB 

AnnUlI' Expenses 

$ 6,600 • 
4,800 
2,400 • 

763 
1,650 • 

158 
1.944 

36,000 • 
tIl 

1,097 

2,638 
3,000 ., 

30,000 
., 

2,400 

4,000 • 

6,000 • 

2,676 

2,400 • 

868 
8.222 

4,(0) • 

5,100 Ave 425/mo 

85 
4,800 .. 
3,460 

1.016 

61.126 

32,850 
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, 
• 

• 

Property Tb-WeDs -LMK 

PropettyTax • S8 - LMK 

Santa Barbara Homeowners Fee-LMI( 

Storage Rental 

Insurance:Life Insurance 

Insuranc!!-Houses - LMK 

Medlcal-Guy 

Medical-LMK 

Misc-Guy 
Misc-LMIC 

Utilities 

vacation-Guy 
Vacation- LMK 

Major Expenditures-LMK 

Major Expenditures-Guy 

OVERAlL TOTAL IVr 
fMo 

13,938 
$12,818 

U,160 .. 

3.600 

1.383 

1.SOO • 

2.714 

3,000 • 
4,855 

5,00D • 

12,600 

6000 .. , 
1,soo • 

4.200 • 
3.718 

$318,820 
S 26,568 

2~R014969 
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, 
- I 

In Re Marriage of Adams 

Petitioner1s Income and Expense Declaration 

Exhibit 4 

13 q _ Other. Miscellaneous Expenses (Monthly): 

Gym membership and vitamins $ 222 

Bed. furniture and furnishings for 309 
H8 reskience; Bed. furniture and 
fumishings for Santa Barbara condo; 
contribution to Grandchildren education 

Political contlibut!ons (non-<ieductible) 15 

Supplies and other expenses 117 

Bank Charges i 0 

Credit Card Interest Expenses 6 

Credn Card Fees/Costs for Card 16 

Total 695 
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1 PECLAfW1011 OF GUY W. ADA. 
2 " Guy W. Adams, declare as foQows: 

3 1.' am the Petitioner in the instant matter. I make and submit this 

4 declaration in support of my Request for Order Re Spousal Support and Attorneys 

5 Fees and Costs. The facts stated herein are known to me personally, and if called 

6 upon as a witness, I could and would competenfJy testify thereto. 

7 2.' ·offer this Declaration in lieu of personal testimony, pursuant to §§2009 

8 and 2015.5 ofthe Califomia Code orCivD Procedulfl, Rule 5.11800 of California RuJes 

9 of Coolf, and pursuant to the authority of Reiller vs. SuperiorCoulf (1974) 39 CaJ. 

10 App.3d 479, and Marriage of Stevenot (1984) 154 CalApp.3d 1051. 

11 3. Respondent; Lois M. Kwasigroch (hereinafter -Loisj and' married on 

12 Sep~ember 29, 2007 and separated on september 1.2013, a period of 5 years and 

13 11 months. We do not have any children together, however, Lois has a daughter, 

14 AnneUse Alexander, age ZOo from a prior marriage. Lois and I did not sign a 

15 prenuptial agreement prior to our marriage. 

16 SPOUSAL SUppoRT 

17 4. Prior to our marrfage. , owned and operated two businesses: GWA 

18 Capital Partners, an investment management company. and GWA Advisors. a 

19 investment consulting firm. At that time, GWA Capital Partners had four employees. 

20 Prior to our marriage, both of my businesses were prospering. but the 2007-08 market 

21 meltdown resulted in significant lnvesbnent losses (or both companies. By the end 

22 2008, most of my investors had pulled out, and my businesses' combined value had 

23 declined by approxfmately 70%. At that time, I had to lay off aU of my employees. 

24 Since that time. I have worked to rebuild my businesses. I am currently devoting most 

25 of my time to advisory assignments. 

26 5. Lois is an attomey specializing in biotech patent litigation. She started 

27 wol1dng at her current employer, Arngen. a few months prior to our marriage in 2007. 

28 

-1-

oeCl.ARAnON OF GUY W. ADAMS 
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1 She is presentfy an Associate General Counsel at Amgen. Prior to starting work at 

2 Amgen. Lois was a partner at Jones Day. 

3 6. lois' income far exceeds mine. Pursuant to our 2012 tax return, my 
. 

4 gross income from both of my businesses was $100,350 before any business 

5 expenses. (See 2012 tax returns, attached hereto as Exhibit -Aj. Per scheduJe C of 

6 our tax returns, my business expenses were $63,962. (See Exhibit "A"). My current 

7 income is approximately $5,000 per month. most of which J earn from short-term 

8 consulting assignments. Also, in 2013, my income has decreased because my 10 

9 year contract that« had with Mercer, one ~ my major clients. ended on May 31,2013. 

10 7. In contrast to me. lois' income has not been negative1y impacted by the 

11 recent economIc recession. Pursuant to our 2012 tax return. Lois' gross income from 

12 her employment at Amgen was $742,035. (See exhibit "Aj. Considertnglois' 

13 monthly income of $61,833, my monthly income of $5.000, both .of us filing as single 

14 and claiming one deduction, and lois' property tax expenses of$1,161 and mortgage 

15 inlerest deduction of $5,093, Lois' monthly spousal support obrtgation to me is 

16 S22,3n. (See Oissomaster, attached hereto as Exhibit"Sj. 

17 ATJORNEYS FEES AND COSTS 

18 8. In addition to eaming slgniffcantfy more income than me, Lois has more 

19 assets than me. In 2007. when Lois and I married, my IRA account had an 

20 approximate balance of $161,991. Today the balance of my IRA account is less than 

21 $50,000. Most of the loss in value of my IRA was a result of the 2007-08 market 

22 decline. I have one other retirement account which has an approximate value of 

23 $20,000. Lois has several retirement aocounts. Her401(l<) and IRAs have 

24 appreciated significantly during our marriage, in large part due to the contributions by 

25 her empfoyer. I estimate that the aJfrent value of lois' 401 (k) and IRAs is in excess 

26 of $600,000. In addition to her retirement accounts, lois has checking and savings 

27 accounts to which t do not have access, sol am unaware as to their current balances. 

28 

-2-
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1 D. In to "Iiqufd III aea, Loll hu • "'''82lC16 that II "..,..., her 

2 aeparaI8 prapedf. During our manfage, lara II1d I prfnl_U, FE llW n • hoa.. t1INch 

3 Loll acquinJd ... 1988, piar to eM' rnam.ge. AIItIough the Ie ...... Lola' _".aI. 

4 prapaty. _ made ~ l",pmwmen.1o lie piaparty dum, ourmarrJage UIkV 

5 our community puperty. AddiIIDnafIy. Lds f8ftnancad tho PIOP8ItY twice durtng our 

8 marrfage. and we pafd the moavaae from our community PNperiy eaninga. Sft ... 

7 our eeparation. l..oia hae oontlnued to .. Ide In 1he property. 

8 10. On May 26. 2012, Loi8 and I PIlch. Ie d a aecond home In MontadtD. 

9 caliramla for $f .211,9'Z1. The dawn p8)IJ'I18rIt far .,. puacl ••• can .. prec:fornitIafa 

10 from loil' benus payment receIVed In MIIn:tJ ofthlt year. Si1ca aur purdtase at.,. 
11 pn::tpelily, the ra.'1enca ... ilttl'llned 'n wIue.. SInce our .ep.alk»ri. Lora ,.. had 

12 exduaive use and oc:cupancy of the Monlllcilu pmperty. 

13 11 SInce our aeparallon, , have incUrrIcf ~ __ lIllOclllng. 

14 ~andrum.hfrv ... ..-b,oantwhlle lofshas ilemahadlMng InboCh,.our 

15 _II)' ra rflferlcB. 

18 12. AddftfanaIy.1 hIMt paId'10.000lolalail .. atb'neytD repreaentnwln 

17 tlWlJIgaton. Based on LaII' .Ial:emelltsto me ~ -lPPQItand dMeion of our 

18 assets. r 8~ that I wIIIlncur signlftc:ant legal feels bebe our dIaIaIuUon mailer 

19 fa raaoIwecl 

20 fJf' 'If IIfI'lIIEITJP 

21 13. I ~uOy reque&t that Loil be orden!Id 10 pay me $22,377 per mDnth 

22 as and rar sPO'l.aI aupport. 

23 1-4. I ful1her rel;wtfUJy request 1hat t.ais be ordei'8d to make a $25,000 

24 contribution to my attomeya feaa and 0Data farthwiIh. 

25 I dedare under penally of peJjury lhat1he begging Is true and correct. 

28 EJec! dad this ~ day d October 2013, at B Segundo. Cdamia. 

Z1 

28 

'
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 

Kane <efkane@sanrr.com> 

Monday, May 18, 201510:16 PM 
Guy Adams 

See if you can get someone else to second the motion. If the vote is 5·3 I might want to abstain. and make it 

4-3. If it's needed I wit! vote. It's personal and goes back 51 years. If no one else will second it I will. 

1 

GAOOOO5500 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject; 

which are? 

From: Guy Adams 

Kane <elkane@san.rr.com> 

Tuesday, May 19,201512:27 AM 

Guy Adams 
Re: 

Sent: f.1onday, May lS, 2015 3:26 PM 
To: ~Of 
SUbject: RE: 

Ok. 
Can you second the other motions? 

From: Kane [mailto:elkane@san.ff.com] 
Sent: Mooday, May 18, 2015 3:16 PM 
To: Guy Adams 
Subject 

See if you can get someone else to second the motion. If the vote is 5 3 I might waf'lt to ()bstain and make it 
4-3. if it's needed I will vote. !t's personal and goes back Sl vean •. If no one else will second it I will. 

1 

GAOOOO5501 
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EXHIBIT 24 
Filed Separately Under Seal 

277 
001537



 
pp. 1538-1540 Filed Under Seal 



EXHIBIT 25 
Filed Separately Under Seal 

278 
001541



 
pp. 1542-1552 Filed Under Seal 



EXHIBIT 26 
Filed Separately Under Seal 

279 
001553



 
pp. 1554 Filed Under Seal 



EXHIBIT 27 

280 
001555



Mes!iage 

From.; 

Sent: 

To: 

CC; 

Subject: 

MiVgaret Cotter iMargaret Cotter) 

6/4/20156:14:53 PM 

James Cotter JR 

Ellen Cotter 

Rf: John Genovese 

! told you, give me a call I will .1fllCulate over the phone. 

From: James Cotter JR 
Sent: Thursday, June 04,20152:14 PM 
To: Margaret Cotter 
Subject: RE: John Genovese 

Currently reviewing "lib lawyers can you please tell me your thoughts about lohu'} 

From: Margaret Cotter 
Sent: Thursday. June 04,201511:11 AM 
To: James Cotter JR; Bien Cotter 
Subject: RE: John Genovese 

Frankly. I would be more concerned aoout yuurself and getting your position squi)(ed away th0rl dei'lhng with another 

employee. ! think your priorities are a little 5kewed. What IS the status of the paperwork: we Sent you yesterday. 

F.'Om: James Cotter JR 
Sent: Thursday, June 041 2015 1:53 PM 
To: Margaret Cotter; Enen Cotter 
Subject: RE: John Genovese 
Importance: High 

Bill and Dcv do not believe Ellen' s candidate has experience to oversee our U.S real estate. I do not believe he does 
elther. Bill and Dcvare very impres.'>cd WIth John and beUeve he should be hIred. We have met a lot of candIdates and 
John is by £.uthe best lfthe Comp'-l!lY waits any longer, we will lose this C:111did.'1tc You should not view him as a threat 
10 your role or Edlflce '$ role. The decision to wait is not in the Company's best interest, \\hethcf I am here or not This 
Company needs an experienced rcal estate developer who has: been there and done that. fIe has long tenure at Macerich 
and Equity Oflice Tbis is a no-brainer. What are your reasons for lIot wanting to 11m: John" If he doe.~ not work out, we 
<::'111 fire him and lose one year salary. Ifhe works oul, we will be able to move all our properties forward at fast 
pace You gave me one reason, that of him being arrogant He ha.., experiencc in an area. .. - retml \casing. construction. 
buying. selling. financing .... a full"SCfvice real estate guy" I would note that John scored highest un learn play on Kom 
Ferry's test. He: is to be viewed as a resource and he fully understands corporate structure here and the mandate to help 
(M!ryone" There is now a fear of losing John as a c'l1ldidatc. Why he is not the nght guy'} 

I am talking to Kom Ferry this mommg Md would like both of your input. 

/1--10 
EX" /(2 J(b OAT E \ o· 11, I 
\V I °i ,11 < CD tfL-
fATR1CIA HUBBARD 

RDI0047818 
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From: Margaret Cotter 
Sent: Thursday, May 28,20157:33 PM 
To: William Ellis 
Cc: James Cotter JR; Ellen Cotter; Dev GOose; Craig Tompkins 
SUbject: Re: John Genovese 

Sill and team: we are not finished with Ollr search. Ellen has a candidate that she has worked with and spoke to you 

about. I am not in favor of hiring .Iohn for reasons I may have discussed with you personally. If not I will share when I see 

you. I think this search should and will continue. 

8efore hiring anyone I think we need to get Edifice's agreement signed. They have a staff of people working on our 

project and were anticipating getting signed in May. 

Sent from my iPhone 

WUliamD. Ellis 
General Counsel 
Readmg Internationa!, Inc, 
6100 Center Drive, Suite 900 
Los Arlge1es, CA 90045 
Phone: (323) 271·1054 
Fax: (213) 235-2229 

May 27, 2015 

Candidate Assessment 

Reading International, Inc. 

FOR THE POSITION OF: 

RDI0041819 
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Head of Real Estate 

John Genovese 
President 

GENCO Realty Group. LlC. 

Korn Ferry's Four Dimensions of Leadership 
By leveraging the largest set of data on talent-more than 2,5 million assessrnents- Kom Ferry has insight 

into the dimensions of talent crucial for executives, The four dimensions include competencies, traits., drivers, 

and e){~)erjentes, Taldng illl four dimensions into account gives your cornpany a holistic view of how each 

candidate's qua!ities fit a specific role, 

Experiences 
Experiences are the roles. and assignments that m<Jke up a candidate's career history Jnd resume. Ex;]mples of 

e1<pt~nences !neLide things like mJnaging a turnaround, taking a glob .. 1 assignment, or managing a crisis. 

learning from experiences is imtrumenta! to developing readiness rJ new challepges and wle£. Kom Feny 
.>t, ,- " 

has identified the qualities tnJt make an experience most developmental. HIgf)ly developmental iw,ignm€r.ts 

are those that take people out of their comfort lOne and invoive high visibility, a risk of failure. ambicu!ty, a.m 

a broad scope of respOfiSihility. 
If .. 

Traits -~ 

Traits are personality characteristics that exert a strong influence on bf;!haviQf; These include attitudes, such as 
-l: - Y- t-" -:~ 

optimism, and other natural leanings, such as SOCial astuteness.. Trait~.m'! cqre towho a person is. but they 
. -){ ,-. ' ~ _ t -, , 

don't represent a predetermined fate. Depending on the role and u.iltext, specific traits may be mOre or less 
~~;, '0 

cruda! for success. Korn Ferry has identified 14 key traits for executive'tandidates. 

Com pete ndes 
Competencies are the leadership skills that matter most for success in the 21st century. Korn Ferry has 

ldentmed key competencies relaTed to hIgh performance m executive roles, Exarnples include situatIonal 

adaptability and global perspective. These skills enable leaders to make a meaningful impact because they 

determine how leaders drive results. The unique competency profile generated for this role is based on the 

nature of the pOSition, Ihe nrganttation. and key reqUirements, 

Drivers 
Drivers are the preferences. values, and motivations that influence a person's career aspirations. They lie at 

the heart of critical questions: What is important to me? What do I nnd rewarding? Driver!) are infonned by 

who a person is. but also by the cm:umstances or context at any given tIme. Mm.t Hnportantly. Drivers factor 

in to culture fit engagement and performance. as well as talent retention, They operate as a Pivot pOint for all 

other dimensions (Traits, Competencies. Experiences), 
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--------- .............. -..... . 

• •••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• 
Summary 
John thrives on complex. problems. and pursues cutting-edge solutions with intellectual rigor. Candidates like 

john place an ideal emphasis on working with other people in pursuit of collec.tive goals, sharing credit for 

accomplishments. and building strong teams. They are passionate and steadfast in the pursuit of ambitious 

goals despite obstacles or setbacks. In general, John is motivated to integrate work and life in a sustainable, 

enjoyable. and meanIngful way. 

Experiences 
Experiences comprise career history. They are key roles and assignments such as managing a turnaround, 

taking a global assignment, or handling a crisis. Korn Ferry has identified the experiences most instrumental to 

developing a leader's readiness for new challenges and toles. Depending on the industry, function. and level. 

certain experiences may be more or less crucial for success. 

KEY EXPERIENCES FOR JOHN 

• External stakeholders (government, lobbies, media, shareholders, unions) 

• Financial acumen 

• Development Project Depth 

• Urban retail asset expertise 

• large scale team leadership 

John tackles complex chatJenges with an optimal Traits balance of creativity, flexibility and careful analysis. 

Candidates like John motivate and influence others with an ideal mix of strong Jnterpersonal skills, emotional 

intelligence. and a focus 00 relationships. They have tremendous drive, very high expectations. and are not 

likely to give up easily. 

Competencies 
Joho establishes systems that monitor organizational performance and holds others accountable for meeting 

or exceeding objectives. Candidates like John create a culture that encourages experimentation and leaming 

in order to identify new ideas and opportunities that will drive performance. They build partnerships across 

functional, cultural. organizational, and global boundaries to connect key people who can help accomplish 

goals. 

Ensures accountability * 
Engages and inspires 

Navigates networks 

Develops talent 

Nimble learning 

Cultivates innovation 

Alisns execution * 
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Situational adaptability 

Courage * 
Global perspective 

Strategic vision * 
Financial acumen 

Manages ambiguity * 
Balances stakeholders 

Persuades 

Drivers 
john is motlVated by a vaneiy of tasKS and responsibilities and the fk'xibWty to set a schedule and pace. John IS 

also rnotivated by the opportunity to "vorl" with others on a commoli goat An ideal work context would aUow 

for l.e,H'O efforts to be pUfsu(!d at a sustainable pace. in general, John may be less energized by stabilily and 

u.msI stency, and more lnvigtl'ated when work 15 unpredictable and ambiguous. 

<John (rtmo'.csc .. docx> 
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.. 
llrlll5tamp: 6/l/201S 11:U AM COT 

Confidential Settlement Memo of Understanding 

The following is intended to be used as a part of confidential and "without prejudice" settlement 
negotiations between Ellen Marie Cotter (-EMC") and Ann Margaret Cotter (" AMC"'), on the one hand, 

and James J. Cotter, Jr. ("JJC") on the other hand. It is provided under the understanding that the 
contents hereof are confidential, except to the extent the disclosure of certain terms are required by 
law, and is not to be used, including in any litigation, for any purpose other than to enforce the terms 

hereof. 

The proposal outlined below sets forth the basis on which EMC and AMC would be willing to proceed 
towards a negotiated settlement, but, with respect to the items related to the management structure of 
Reading International, Inc. (the "Company") only, is subject to the ultimate approval of the independent 

directors, in the exercise of their fiduciary duties and obligations. Nothing herein is intended to 
interfere with the appropriate exercise by the directors of their fiduciary duties and obllgaUons. 

If these terms are acceptable to JJc, then JJC should sign below to indicate his agreement. AMC and 
EMC will do the same. By signing below, the parties agree that the terms of this Understanding 
represent a binding agreement, subject to approval by the independent directors of the Company 

Management Structure (as detailed below) and necessary court approvals. If the Company 
Management Structure is not approved by the Company Board or implemented, EMC and AMC (but not 
JJC) shall have the option to treat this agreement as void and no longer binding. If the necessary court 
approvals are not obtained, this agreement will be void and no longer binding. The parties 
acknowledge that their agreement will be memorialized in a more formal document, and the parties 

avee to work diligent IV and good faith to prepare all required documentation that reflects the terms of 
this Understanding. The Initial draft of such documentation will be prepared by counsel to EM( and 

AMC. 

TERM/CONDInON 

Reading Intemational 
Management Structure (JJc, 
EMC & AMC would cooperate 
in good faith in the 
implementation of these 
changes) 

EMC/AMC SETTlEMENT TERMS AND CONDmONS 
JJC would continue to serve as CEO and President under the terms 
of his existing contract. but in the overall management structure 
and subject to the limitations set forth below: 

Executive Committee Structure 

The existing Executive Committee would be renewed as a standing 
committee of the Soard of Directors, as follows: 

• Members: EMC, AMC, JJCand Guy Adams (Chairman). 
Decision-making will be by majority rule. 

• Delegated Authority to the Executive Committee would be 
as determined by the Board of Directors, but would include, 
at a minimum, the following: 
(i) Approval over the Hiring/Firing/Compensation of all 
senior level consultants/emplovees; 
(ii) Review and approval/disapproval of all 
contracts/commitments with an overall exposure to the 
Company in excess of $2.5 million; and 

1 
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Reading Voting Stock­
Class B 

(iii) Review and approval of annual Budget and Business 
Plan. 

Meetings would be held on a regularly scheduled basis weekly, 
[xecutlve Committee members would naturally be free to attend 
and participate in internal meetings called bv the CEO, and would 
endeavor to make themfoelves reasonably avaUable to attend such 
meetings as to which they may be invited by the CEO. 
Unless approved in advance by the Executive Committee, all 
investor relations will be handled by CEO with CFO in consultation 
with the GC CEO will not conduct investor relations meetings 
alone, All press releases and public filings would be subject to 
review and sign*off by the Executive Committee and the GC 

The Company would enter into employment agreements with [Me 

and AMC on substantially the same terms and conditions <75 He 

EMC will be appointed President of the US Cinema diviSion" 

Margaret Cotter will be appointed as Chairman of the NYC Real 
Estate OVersight Committee (members to include JJC, AMC, SCI 
and WE). 

It is recognized that the implementation of the above will require 
the adoption of various bylaws, policies and procedures, 

The provisions above related to the Management Committee will 
be effective immediatelv upon approval by the Company's Board of 
Directors. 

i For purposes of this agreement and the provisions herein, JJC, AMC 
and EMe agree that, as of the date hereof, the following are 
"independent" directors: Guy Adams, Edward Kane, WilHam Gould, 

I 

Tim Storey and Doug McCeachran. '~" .. "_~'~ ___ -I 
JJC will decline to serve as Co· Trustee of the Voting 1 rust and 
renounces any intention or right to serve as trustee or a successor 
trustee" 

Margaret Cotter will be the Sole Voting Trustee of the Voting Stock. 

It ill acknowledged that the parties will work on il mutually 
agreeable successor trustee provision to be included in the flnal 
settlement documentation" 

i lJC, EMC and AMC will sign an acknowledgement that there is an I inconsistency in the 2014 Amendment between SR's expressed 
t intent that AMC serve as Chair and another provision that says SR 
f intended for rotation. Unless AMC a ees otherwise, JJe, EMC ilnd 

2 
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C.ooperation of Parties to ! explore division of Estate/T fust 

2014 Trust Amendment 

..... '""""' .. --.- .. -.,-~--.---- . ..~ __ ,_· __ ,~~"~~_A __________ ._ I Trustees of the Living Trust 

Specific Bequests 

Ownership of Agriculture 
Assets 

lJCs "Lead Director" 
Agreement withCecelia· 
$200,000 per annum 
$1.5 miflion Loan 

- "" 

AMC will agree that SR intended for AMC to serve as Chair and that 
neither fMC nor JJC have any right to serve as Chair. 
With respect to any specific bequest of assets of the trust and 
estate which are required to be distributed to EMC, AMC and JJC 
jointly, the parties agree to work cooperativelv together to explore 
a way to divide these assets so that co-ownership of the assets will 
not be required. The parties understand that the foregoing 
proviSions are subject to final payment of federal estate tal(, tosts 
of administration, and receipt of the closing letter from the IRS for 
the federal estate tal( return. 
Subject to the terms and conditions herein, EMC and AMC will drop-

I any challenge to the enforceability of the 2014 Amendment . 
I He resigns as Trustee and renounces any right to serve as a trustee 
I Of successor trustee. 

_. » . . .. _.-

The Laguna Beach Condo will be sold immediately to iii third party 
for cash to provide liquidity to the Estate. The parties will agree to 
consent to liveh $<lIe under terms determined by AMC and EMC in 
their sole discretion as. C.o~Trustees, 

The parties acknowledge that the gift to AMC in Article III K of the 
trust of the condominium/coop at 120 Central Park South shaH be 
satisfied with Trustor's interest in 59th Street LLC (an LtC to which 
the condo was transferred in 2014 and which owns no other ass.ets 
other than the condo). "_~~~_ 
Article m H of the trust shall be clarified to reflect Trustor's intent 
that the Trustees of the Citrus Trust shaff distribute the assets of 
the Citrus Trost outright to the Trustor's issue, by right of 
representation, and terminate the Otms Trust. JJC, EMe and AMC 
will also sign an acknowledgment that they have unanimously 
agreed that subject to payment of estate taxe!. and costs of 
administration in the Trustor's estate, the assets of the Citrus Trust, 
including ownership interests in the LtC, SHALL be distributed 
outright to the Trustor's issue, by right of representatjon. 

Cotter Family Farms, LtC Agreement amended as follows: 

• Majority rule for decision1l1aking by Co-Managers; and 

• Remove restrictions on distributions or sale of assets, such 
that a majority of the Co·Managers can decide in their 
discretion to make distributions or sell assets. 

EMC and AMC acknowledge that He's HLead DirectorP Agreement 
will continue. 

The parties recognize the forgiveness of the $1.5 million loan from 
the Trustor to nc, and acknowledge that there are no other 
outstanding loans/amounts personallv due fromEMC, AMC, JJC, Of 

their issue to the trust or estate. (Note: there are, however, 
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, 

RDI Stock owned by SR 
individually 

Legal Expenses 

Mutual Releases 

Tlmf/$t&mp; W3/201S 11:42 AM COT 

outstanding balances due to estate/trust from James J. Cotter, Jr. 
2012 Trust; Ellen M. Cotter 2012 Trustj Margaret Cotter 2012 Trustj 
and the James J. Cotter 2013 Irrevocable Trust, in which EMC, AMC, 
JJC or their issue have an interest.) 
JJc, fMC, and AMC agree that the RDI stock (voting and non-voting) 
listed on ROI's stock register as still held in the name of SR on the 
date of death is owned by SR's Estate, not the Trust. 
All legal expenses and other professional fees incurred to date by 
JJc, EMC, AMC, the Trust, and the Estate relating to the litigation or 
administration issues will reimbursed by Trust or Estate as 
appropriate. and JJC will sign an acknowledgment that this is 
appropriate and reasonable. 
JJc, EMC, and AMC agree to abate all litigation amongst each other 
and to refrain from instituting any new claims based on conduct 
that has occurred as of the date of this agreement pending 
obtaining approval of the Company Management structure above 
and all necessary court approvals of this settlement, 

Once all approvals have been obtained, JJC, fMC, and AMC agree to 
the following: 

-JJC, EMC, and AMC will enter into mutual releases for all claims, 
known or unknown, relating to SR's Trust, SR's Estate, the 
management of the Company, or any matter covered by this 
Agreement (excluding any claim to enforce this Agreement) that 
have been brought against JJC, EMC, and AMC (all whether in their 
individual or representative capacities). 

-JJC will release all claims against the Company's Officers! 
Directors/Consultants or the Company based on conduct occurring 
prior to the date of the release. 

-JJC will disclaim any right to bring a derivative daim against the 
Company's Officers! Directors/Consultants, and JJC will agree not 
to cooperate or participate in any suit by another asserting claims 
that JJC will release under this agreement. 

-EMC and AMC will take all actions to have their claims pending in 
CA and NV over SR's estate and trust dismissed with prejudice, 
except to the extent such dismissal would be inconsistent with any 
term of this Agreement. 

-JJC will dismiss the petition filed in NV relifting to the Company 
Voting Stodt. 

-JJc, fMC, and AMC will take whatever action is necessary to cause 
Company to dismiss its request for instructions filed in NV relating 
to the ROI stock owned by SR 

4 

MC00000438 

290 
001565



"-~'-~-~-'~-'-~~"--~--" 
2014 Gifts JJC delivers (MC check for $28,000. 
Gerald Cotter The parties acknowledge that the typographical error in Article III A. 

of the trust (gift to Gerard (<otter) 'inall be corrected to reflect 
Trustor's intent that the gift to Gerard Cotter is $150,000 without 
offset. 

James J. Cotter Foundation I AMC, fMC and JJC will become co-trustees and/or co-directors of 
the James 1. Colter foundation, With respect to funds to be 
donated annually by the foundation to other charities, AMC, fMC 
and jJC in his or her capacity as a trustee or director will each 
designate a proportionate one-third share of the funds to be 
distributed to the charitable benefidarie~ as each shall sele<:t, 

Otherwise, decision making will be done by majority fule, This 
paragraph is subject to any requirements of federal or state tax or 
substantive law. 

' __ ~_",,,_~'w","~"'_'~~"'_.~, ._-" -- -~- - - - .,- .. ------~~""'---, 
COlJet Approval The paetil'!s will use their best efforts to obtain court approval in CA 

and NV of any settlement agreement, I - ~ ""c"~"'C""_" 

Counseling AMC, HC and fMC will engage in professional counseling to 

,.--, determine how to work cooperatively together and with respect 
Confidentiality JJc, AMC, and fMC agree that this agreement will be kept 

confidential, except to the extent the disclosure of certain terms 
are required by law, and the fact of the agreement or any of its 

I terms is not to be IJsed, including in any litigation, for any purpose 

~_~" __ "~'A_"""""h, .• ~,~_.~ ... ____ .~'_m_~",,_._.,_. __ . 
I other than to enforce the terms hereof. 

---.--."~~,,.~ ... -;,...-- ._._u __ . __ .... , ...... _____ .. " .. _ ..... _." .. ______ , ____ ••••••• __ • __ A _________ ....,., ••• ,_. __ .,. ___ "' •• _._._.~~ ___ .~ __ ~"' __ .... " •••••• _._._ •• ____ • ___ , ••••• _._ •• ~_~ •• _____ •• _",...... •••• ______ ••••• __ ~_._~~,_ 

AGREED: 

James J. Cotter, Jr. (individuallv and in all representative capacities) 

EHen Cotter (individually and in all representative capacities) 

Margaret Cotter (individually and in all representative capacities) 
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• 

• 

hom: 

Sent: 
To~ 

Subject: 

fIac: 

Gould. William D. twGould@tf'OVlould.com] 

5/20/2015 4:54:07 PM 
nm Storey ltirn.storev@!IfOIelC..co,nr) 
FW: Apnda • Board of Directors Meetlnc • May 21. 2015 

Follawup 

'rom: Kane [maitto:ellcaneOsan.n'.coml 
S It: Tuesday, May 19, 20lS 8:21 PM 
To: G:Kt1d, WRiam D. 
Subject: Re: Agenda - Board d Directors t1eeting • May 21, 2015 

As of now and after your astonishint and ridiculous assertion that Marpret cost this company $20 million I see no 
reason to meet. f think you have self anointed and self appointed yourself as some kind of person in charge of the 50-

aUed independent committee and in my opinion you are certainly not independent. I know full well that a couple of 

years. Jim CoItef had cflMe( with you to remove you .from the Board and told you we had to "set younlti"; that you 

said AI was older than vou and Jim WIS caueht and then terminated AI. You know this and I know thi' and we both know 
that if Jim could rise again he would likely through you out the 9th fIDor window. He M\Iet' Inte"*d for you to have this 

kind. or any kind. of authority. You have desecrated his memory and you are notthe Bill Gould' knew for so many years. 
You have become an embin'assment to aI. The die is cast and we will meet asa fuR Board and if you don't like it don't 
showup. 

,.on,: <i,9lM. WiDIf!m P, 
S. Jt: lues diy, May 19, 2015 5:56 PM 
Tot ~1)'flrr@twdjna~1 mn ; ~.r ... !CiI1tn5Kfinqrd"com ; »roes j.mttdracfm.grd!~ ; ~n.rr.com 
; d!"cTchemOdelc4'emm; tIm,_"oell6*! mnz: Gyy,.rns 
Ca Wi!l!am EllS 
Subject: FW: Agenda - 8oan:f d Oitectnrs ~1eeti1g • May 21, 2015 

All: 
Tim and I are pcnonaJly requesting tbis meeting oftbe independent directors before the formal 

meeting. We feel that the independentdirectorl might face possible claims for breach of duty if the Board takes 
action without following a processdesignecl to insure that tile Board members have properly fulfilled their 
fiduciary duties. 

We would not be addressing the merits of·the action scheduled 10 be taken but mher the process to be 
folSowed in MCbing a decision to take such adion. 

Also we would like to discuss a proposal which might be acceptable to all parties. 
I would find it quite surprisin8lftd disappointing if the other independent directors would refuse our 

personal request to meet privata)'. 
BiR 

Wlt ..... D ....... 
(no) 789-13 •• FilII cno} 201-4746 
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., 
"Q9y1d1Mmgoyld.c;pm 
TroyGould PC 
leal Ce<Ury li'artc be, SuIta 1600 
I.Da ADgeIl!s, CA 90(167· 23&7 
\!!!JW.trpcpyId,qm 

T •• .lANa D ......... : Any"""" tal! _vice atnblned In this communlcaUDn (indudiIIQ CldlltlentS) WII not int.nded to ba used, .nd It 
un.mbe used, WYDU forth .. pllrl'Ml ot (t) .... uicli, ... ny,.naftythC",.... t. impoled by1tle IntIenIIII ReJWIIit 5eNiCe ar(2) promobllO. 
INrtcetlnD or rea:lm,lIlndIno to anotn .. party any tnlns«tiOn Dr rnatIar attn Ed hereIiI. 1'·YQU WCiUI4 IIh sucIIadvice. please tontact us. 

NAt:_ to .. 111 . at: Tl\ts ... malilS meant: Dntv fw ttIIIln1endd rec:iPimt of IN· transmIBhttI, and may be I CDllllllUI'IItIUDrt prMllQelllIy 
law. If you f1IaIIved·this ... malI- in etTDr, any ...... use, d.. ,""nation. clistrtbutlon. or ~g d the 1-1'111015 ItrICSIy prohibited. Please 
IIOtify .. immediat.l, oId11 IITOI' bY return t-ftIlfIlIICI de_ a._millage fr1Im your "*"" Thenk·VOU '" adVince for your CDllpe!1Ibon. 

fiOla: Kane [rMII1D:l!IcaM8sn;rr .. QIIl) 
sellt: Tuesday, May 19,20154:54 PM 
to~ Gould, WIIIIIIm D.; FIM,Cd'Ci Oread!nardi.mnt 1!!jHjaret", '",...djnardl.rpm; ftmes 1.cotterOr.'ugrdi.cqni 
dI .... llldel IiIlp mni tim,IiI",..ophAti!C.CO.nz: Guy Adams 
Cc William EI&. 
Sub,ltKt: Re: Agenda - Board ItOln::ctus ruling· t4Iy 21,2015 

It is. not my undemand'1f1I that the meetil1l·commence with only the independent directors. We all tnow what matters 
are to be discussed and l, for one. see no need for an independent dltectuI' meetina Thursday nor any other day lOinc 
forward • 

.... : Goulet. William D. 
Sa ita Tuesday, May 19, 2015 3:23 PM 
Ttl: BlabO"dmxinArtI.mm ;:ftWQlrctrr• 'aOreadimntlmn ; iarDl$,f.CQlI."I1PrMdInardt.c:om ; ~ ; 
din 'the !lOdeIofI+e qm ; tim ct·'nOptMm,nz ; Gur !mnl 
Cc W.ljlm BMs 
.. Idect: FW: Agenda .8aanf o(Din!IclaII MeetinG - Mav 21,2015 

With respect to the· aaenda that S1en sent out. It isrny unde standi,. that the proceedinp will commence with I 
meeti", of the independent tflrectDi s. The purpose rA this meetin& wiU be to mak~ certain that independent directors 

'\ 

are fuRy informed of the matters to be disaassed at the formll board meetin&; 

"' .. O.QauW 
(110) 789-1138 • Fax (310) lCH746 
wgguldCIbpyMNklcom 
lfll\'GOlH PC 
1801 Cant"", fttk fa .. SuIte uao 
Los Ange1n. CA to06NJ67 
WWW,b!ypDUld·cpm 

T_AdvIal DIIoDek .... : Any fed'" t.x .tvlca CDilt ..... ed I" this CDmmunlcatiun (lnduellno attadili.entsh'II not inte .. ded to be used, _lid It 
c:amot \:Ie used, by you tor tile PUfllOll of {ll lVoidir .. ..",,...1ty 1hat fIII¥ be .... pu .. d bV tile· IntemAI ReverIuI Stnnce ar (2.) ~,"QtHtg. 
rnai1lettnv or 1IICDftI!fteNllngto ...... "ertrlny trtiUCtlDn ar iNlI2r act*e. d heAl"'. It' \llDU wautd like sudlllMca. pliliiUe conbiCl us. 
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• Nolke to ItedtJleftt: Thi$ f-mall if; meant onlV for the IntenHd reclplellt of tfw t:nN1SmlaiOI'l, an4 may bI • communteallOl'o ptilltle;Jed iJV 
law. U yoo ,.~rted tnis e-mall ift trror, ."y rev .. , \lie. dissenllnatiD!'I. distrlbubOl'l, or CIIIpyinoof the ... rnall is strictly prahlblted. P1elie 
Nlbfy us ImmediatelY of the error by mum e-melllIhd delete 1:1\. message trom your 1iYStItm. TI\arIIc '1'0\1 ill ad'llru for your CI.'IOPntil)h 

From: EIIefI Cotter (maIo:EIJco,C',otterOreadJDQIdf.cgmJ 
re It Tuesday, May 19, 201511:38 AM 
To: Hitrgan!t cutter; Jams Cotter lR; Kane CeJtrJnelsan.rr.a:mt); dm;eJCbc:mdldehiltra CDmi Tim Storey; Guy Adams 
CGAdarrdgweqD,cpm); Go"d, William D. 
Cc: WiI.iamEllis 
Subject: Aqenda - Board ~ OirectOls MeetinQ • May 21, 2015 

Dear All: Below is the aaenda for Thursday's Meetinl of the Soard of Directors. Please note that Bill Gould asked that 

the MeetIng bqin at 11.1Sam. 

1. Status of President and CEO 
2. Directors' COmpensation 

3. Tim Storey's Compensation 

4. Nevada Interpleader Action 

S. Proposed By-law Amendments 

Readina Intematlonal. Inc. 
Meeti"l of the Board of Directors 

May 21,2015 -11.1Sam 

6. Status of Crail Tornpkins and Robert Smerlinl 
7. Status of Ellen Cotter and Margaret Cotter 

8. Director of Real Estate Candidate Search 
9. Stomp Utigation Update 

10. Review of OperatiOM 

Chai'pefson of the Board 
EDen M. cotter 
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From! 
Sent: 

Kane <elkaru:@sal"l.rr.com> 
Ihvr;day. June 11, 2015 1:43 PM 
(otter Jr. James To: 

This morning. without the wine t was drinking last night during and after talking with your mother, I'm 
thinking more about your call to me last night and our conversation. I can see that from your point of view 
having Guy in on the meetings with your sisters could be a problem and doesn't solve the need to be able to 
work with them cohesively going forward. If you explain that to them they may be willing to accommodate 
you. 
But, the maln question is what are you going to do to accommodate them? 
1. For now, I think you have to concede that Margaret will vote the B stock. As I said, your dad told me that 
giVing Margaret the vote was his way of "forcing" the three of you to work together. Asking to change that Is a 
nonstarter. Again. you need to compromise your "wants" as they have been willing to do. If you can work 
together than it becomes a non-issue and eventually your and her kids will have the vote. What's wrong with 
that? 
2. For now you need ASAP to agree on the nominees for the Board going forward. As I told you months ago, 
changes are necessary and you need some quatity people with expertise in fields where it is needed and 
lacking. You also need to get rid of divisive persons. 
3. I do believe that if you give up what you consider "contro'" for now to work cooperatively with your sisters, 
you will find that you will have a lot more commonality than you think. You aU want the same things: a vibrant 
growing bUSiness. After trust IS established you can all go back to where you want to be. 
4. I think if you make the proper and needed concessions, they might well relent on having Guy in the 
meetings as they can eaSily see there is great animosity between the two of you. 
5. Bottom line: recognize you are not dealing from strength right now and be willing to compromise as they 
are rational and reasonable people who have been hurt and demeaned and you need to help heal the family. 
Otherwise you win be sorry for the rest of your life, they and your mother will be hurt and your children will 
lose a golden opportunity. 
6. I am wltling to help but I'd much prefer that you bend a bit and work it out between you to build the trust 
that is necessary so that you don't lose control of the company, as you presently have. 
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frum; Harry 
~nt; Wednesday, 
To: Adam 
Cc; ('leg ·;'''J·V,~,<; 
!'i,loject: I'd,,,,,· 

Ada IH:d 

n.;" 
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Confidential Settlement Memo of Understanding 

the follOWIng IS lI'ltt'nded to be used dS a part of conhde-nhal am' ·wltnout pleglUtte" st'tlleml"nt 

llegoti«tioflS between lIk>fl CoUer and MiHg(~ret Cotter, on the one hood. and lames L Cotter, If, (~lJC') 

on the other hand It i .. prolJided urder the ur"Ider!itandtng that tho cootent5 hereof are confident!.;! .md 

not to be used in any litigation or other proceedintl 

The propos,)1 ouHined below \ieh forth the i:lasis (11t which [flen Cotter ("fMC'1 and Margaret Cotter 

rAMC") WOt/fd bt:' willine to proceed toward .. a negotw!£'d "ettlPmt'nt, uul, with re';pecl to thp items 

related to th~ CompaIlY''> management structure only, IS subject to the ultlfnate awroval of the 
inck!!JefH:lent direct()l,>, In the exefd.,e of their fidUCiary dutie,> dI'ld obligations, Nothing herCIIl )S 

intended to interfere v,ith the flppropriate exercise by the directors of thelf fiduciary autie .. <lno 

ob!igiltitFl5 

If 1110'>& term> .lrO ;Kc(tpt.)ble to lJC, then JiC "nouh:! ,ign below to mt1icate hiS agtf'enlfmL t\MC and 

[Me wil! dQ the same, By signing below, the pdrties ilgree that the !('IITH of ti'l, Understanding 

represent if binding agreement, subject to approval by the independent directors of the ROt 
rnan.:lgement structure .. nd nOte%3fY court approvah, However, the IMrtie .. ad,nowlecige that theh 

agleement wHi be memorialized in a mote fOllnal document, and the parties aji!ree to work diiigentiv 

and good faith to prepare an required dotumertiltion that refleth the term} of this Um:lerstilndmg The 

initial draft of 'itH:h dfJwmentation wiil be prepared by counsel to Etlen Cotter lmd Margaret Cottet', 

I TERMicON'OITIoN"-'" 
r--' . .. . . ".---.-'.'~"~-"-

I REdding international 
J Management Structure {Ue, 
I [Me Be AM( would cooperate , ' 

I in good faith in the 

I !lnf>lefl1L'ntatiofl of this 
) r!rl"l~n,\ 
~ - - rt h~-;'''''"l 

fMClAMC S£TTlfMENTTERMS AND CONDITIONS ,~~. '~""~'! 
He would t.ontinue to !oCt lit! as CEO and f'resident uude' the tel 'It., 
of hj~ f!)(it;,tlng rOfltratt, but in the overall management ~tfU(1ure­

and sIlbjec1 to the limitations set forth below; 

E)(t!(utive (ommlttee Sirvcturfr 

I he e~JStlftg h(>(utivi? CommItteE' wotlle be renewt>o as il standing 
committee 01 the Board of Directors, .. ~ follow,>: 

• Memben. [Me, {\Me, JJC and Guy Adam~ lCh .. " man I, 
• Dell'eated ;\uthmlty tc th~ Fxerutivl' Committee wouid he 

as determined by the Board of Dilt~ctor'i, hut would include, 
ilt a minimum, the following 
{it Approval over th& Hiring/Firing/Compensation of an 
senIor level consultants!empfoyet>S; 
iiii R(NICW and approval/dIsapproval Of all 

contracb!comm1tmetlg have ali overall expOSUH: to the 
Company in exCE'SS of $1 millicn. and 
(iii} Review and apPloval oi annual Gud£ .. r and Dtf!>he~~ 

Plan. 

Ml"pf.;ng<. woulrlln· h{·ld "11 a I!"glllarly .. dled"I!":} na,,! .. weeKly. 

herut!ve Committee !T)t1n'1bers WOUld !"1t\lfally hI' free to atterld 

_~_il,n2yarti(lpal{' m mtomal rrH~'f'ting~ c;;!lled bvthe no, and would 
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\ 

Readmg \/{itmg Stoil 
Gil',,, [J 

lmrn("uiate Rel"'b\C iII.d Waiver 

·;,gned bv JK with (espe\'\ 10 an 
litig,HieH, bdudine ,ltlY math"s 

endcavo! to milke thtmuelv(tio ft',asondbly availiIDle to ,attend SUdl 

nwetings ,1> 10 which they may C*' Invited by the (£0 

\j';1t'S\ appruved in Jdv:;:me<! by the [xeo.l{Jve CommlHee, illl 
mVe$l{)( 'ejatH)f,S woukl be handled bv trl uH'\u!talv>f! with Hl(' 

GC net n () Ai! IFf'S~ le!l!a%(~ alla pul'J!;( fdmcs would i)c;vbject 

t.o- t'eVh/1/ dn.d <;rtF' (:rif hy the t ~,ecubv(~ (n-fnrrLUe-t:~ dnd :hF be 

f'iit;H:g;Hy"t Co'tter ~\"-ni be dfJP-{:h-tiftd ;1'\ C:t~<lita18tl 

LsI?;!' OV0f,>ie;ht jnH'mh"r, to ",duo+, 
iH,t! \tit! 

JJr- -.,vBI decline ~o s~rv(~ as ({)-~ 1 r u\1e-p cf t:~e Vnt~ng T rust and 
feh~;JUf;<<-A:~-~~ iFY¥ iotent-i{}i'l Uf de%ift' to 'Sef\~€ _(~~~ ;:t ~;;tHL_e~~~Ot triJ~tee 

nt, [Me ilnd AMC wi!! sign an ild:noW!l;;dgCn1N'\ that thorc Is aI' 
il1cw'$!$\.em:y in tha 2{}l4 All1cndrncnt between SI<'s exprcs~ed 
lI)tern that AMC sen!.' as (>l;'lr alld anntOt'l provision that Sell"i SoH 
lmended for rotal.fcllt, E Me and liMe .. nil ;leree :.hat SR 

1 CalJnnl1i1 Superior Court case 
£. Ne'>uoa case med by m: 
3 _Ali thtt\ats ~ialn!t Directofs 

/1: H H- e~lts i)f C~_Hnp:dnr l>f~r!\, at ivt~ !let J:()n 

~; ABtf:?-r·-n~-i~'}nt th;;;,t g(l-;;hlJne 1nt,p'fnatinn.:1t LV'~ df~_:lP 'tOP 

lnterpiead{'f ,)(Hem in Nevada ilnd rcc t ,tate a~ 
the WNf\d B Sh,H+'~ aNi Opllor; 

Q JK fUlthe! agree', nut sue (:.ompanv evcr lies;' tnattN', 

QII::~rUdpdlt!;jf1Y 1,IN',uit 'td;:it(~to. til('C,:,ltlpuny 

"'r,,'" to the enlmCf!abilit clint! 2014 Amendment 
m,_, "-~"'"m~'''~''''<,-"''' . ·.1······... .•...• .•... ".. •.......... ......................... -.-------~-------------- , 

Jll tty)t_gn~ ,,,is: l'td3tee and :fenc~unc(~~ t:]-f1¥ ~ntent. or de~~he to _s,:ePie 

')s 'i;H.C(~,>UI 11 t!'¥lee whIte "ither [MC Of AMC di t' d!ive. 

LA!:hm;1 H{>a.j) C<lnaO will be .dd HtHIlf·d •• teiy to pltwKie liquidiTy to 

the Estale The p<'!nies wili agree to f(Hht'nt to such :,i}ie Onae! 
tf!rrm dt'-hHmined by AMC and fMC In {Iipir ~iJit' (iitrleticm ill> Co· 
hw;tf'('$ 

2 

JCt')TTEROO2364 

299 
001584



• 

1 OWncrshivof Agriculture Cotter family Farms, UC AgfeCOlt~llt dmended I I A .. wts 
! 

I • Majority rule for declsionmaklng by Co·Managers; ! 

! • Remove fe>trictions on dhltlbutlo!ls 01 sak' of assets; 

• He. EMC and AMC will sign an agreemenUhat they have 
I 

, 
unanimously agreed that the assets of the CilrU$ Tn,st, 

, , 

I induding ownership int€'I/!sts 1n the Uc. wi!! he clistributpd , 

f~--·»--····-···- ..... " .. ~-.. , ''"''''''_u_' __ r' . "_. __ .~~.A ___ '_' 
-~ ~-,----- ---- ~ 

.,£!.~!."I"_to E!!,lC,!,MC. 3fl~_j.~C::~ w.v __ ._._~_,~ ____ • . ~-,,-----~~,-~-",, __ ~ ___ ---J 

jjC~t r'l.ead [lirE'\Jm" JJC'~ 'lead dr/ector" Agreement will be voided. JK wi(! reiinqW\JI 

Agreement with (cedia . any rt'mBit1,ng tights in such Aglef'ment 

0 
$)~~~~gJ'er ~lr\t\.\.I.t.l.I .... . ..............• '.A' ____ . ______ . _____ ~_ 

.--~.,,~,------, 
~_ , •• ~. ___ ~, 'co 'oW ="". 

.~ -'"~~~~~--~,pp,~~,-,""j 

S 15 mili>on Loan A~ exewtm~. UvlC and AMC wm work out a rea~onable paymert 1-

oack 10 btdte OV(~! lime, tdKiog Into due rC!flsidC'T atH)1\ He's ab.iily 
, 

I tt:.!l:.,!ke weh f(~P.'!!!1~l(·nts. , 
''*'''''1 

ltg,,, Expense; Nllegai e~plm~e\ <!lllJother PlQfe~~itH\dl fees ineU! red 1.0 ddt!!' by , , 
! 

1jC~ fMC, AMe, thE' Trust, and the t!>tatf' relating to the litigation Of I admlnt1i,uaUol\ k~ues will feimoufwd by Trust. or hlate as i 
appmpri3te. and H( Will sign an acknowiedgtt1('llt that thl' IS 
appmptiate and fCilliQnable . 

,'".'.--.. - .'w--·~-'-·~.-p ____ ........... 
~. " 

Rele;;se by [!vK:md MAC [M( ;;mo AMe will t3ke all actions to have ther c/;lJrm pending;n 
CA and NV over SWs estate and trust dismissed with preJudice, 
except to the extent .>ucn dismis5.al would be inconslstcnt with any ~ 
term of thi1 Agr{'()ment, such 31 with ref;ard to the $EI miliion loan ! 
IiI) which cast> the parties wil! work to carve out such claims). I 

20111 Gifts He df>li\lefs FMC rh~ck for $2R,OOO. i 
James L Cotter foundation tiMe, EMC and jJC will become co-trustees and/of c(Hflrectors of I 

the James 1 (otter foundation. fhey further willitgl{'() that I dcdslOn"fflakmg will be done by !TI.iljQflty rule. 
Court Approval The p,utles will usc th<:ir best efforts to obt.,in court approval in (A ~ 

and NV of any ~ettlement ag!{'()ment. 
,,""~- "mc"'· _----,v,,-<{ 

Counseling AMe, JJC ilnd [Me wlll engage in profe~sional ccunseling to 
determme how to worK cooperativeiy together and With respect. ! 

i 

AGR!:ED 

Margaret Cotter {mdlVidual and to aU rcpre~entative CllP<lClti{!Sj 
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fr<>m: 
Sent: 
To: 

Mnrgarl1!t (otter <margaretcotter@readingldLcom:> 
Twzsdny, j\)l1$ 09, 2015 3:32 I<JIA 
al11cotterl@aoLcom 

Subject: twd: (on!1denHa!- For Settlement 

from: 1\i\srgsrf't Cotter <m.?5:giJH;t&~~.t1E'r..@I~?!S~tml,rqj(:'?m> 
Date: .June It 201S at 11:20:04 PM tnT 
To: Ja!11es Cotter m <!?!.iT1!21JCottElL@fJf;'!QinlSf1!icl'Qrr1> 
Cc: nk'n C:ott(~f <s~eIU:ottlfI@res4i!l&:fjj~£.91IP 
Subject: Re: (oofldt!!ntiaf· For Settlemem: 

i object, 1 wtl! notify the fxulrd that you bre unwilling!y to take our offer despite your acceptance to most 
or It week 

I (annot agnt<:t0youl' lntest takc~jt Of k4lye~li global settlement proT/osal fiwa nm\1bcr of 
fC:tSOllS fY)wcver, ! mnain willing It) Proml!tiy t,{)!I(lW throllgh on 11 ti}rmal settlemem 
Pf()(:esS!1) artemI)1 to resell V;! all OrOUf ftumly disput<;'S In the m;:snt1mc, 1 remain 
:Il\rceable to a ('nmp!ele standstill th.'{t would hrh1g a ht~!t to all IIligat!,)n nctiV!II(;:; ,md all 
boardmem {)r {)lhe, Readwg rc!a{C1! threats anti p1:)slming 12m agreenolc to any 
fGJ!sdnable st0{lS to !fl1l11etncm a complete standstill and Promllt!yfoHow through on the 
best settlemcilt process we can employ What bhjectlnn do dither of 'Von i'k'lVt to 
proctltiiing in that maner'> 

ft'Om: James ustter JR 
~nt: Friday, June OS, 2015 2:fi PM 
To: Ellen Cot:rer; Margaret Cotler 
Std~ject: Cbnf«lentlal' ·For Se!tllernent 
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From; 

Sent: 
To; 

(c 

Suhject 

bf 

ICC 

;! ( nl 

GA00005340 
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from; 
Sent; 
To: 

SUbject: 

The 
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Plaintiff James J. Cotter, Jr., ("JJC" or "Plaintiff'), by and through his attorney Mark 

G. Krum of Lewis Roca Rothgerber Christie LLP, files this Opposition to INDIVIDUAL 

DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT (NO.1) RE: 

PLAINTIFF'S TERMINATION AND REINSTATEMENT CLAIMS filed by Reading 

International, Inc. (the "Motion"), as follows. 

I. INTRODUCTION! 

This matter concerns breaches of fiduciary duty by individual defendants as directors of 

Reading International, Inc. ("RDI" or the "Company"), a public company, in threatening to 

terminate plaintiff James J. Cotter, Jr. ("Plaintiff' or "JJC") as President and Chief Executive 

Officer ("CEO") ofRDI, ifhe did not resolve disputes between him and his sisters, EC and MC, 

on their terms and, when Plaintiff did not acquiesce to the threat, voting to terminate him. 

The first (breach of the duty of care), second (breach of the duty of loyalty) and fourth 

(aiding and abetting breach of the duty of loyalty) claims made in Plaintiffs Second Amended 

Complaint ("SAC") are based in part on the conduct of certain director defendants in threatening 

to terminate Plaintiff as President and CEO ofRDI, ifhe did not resolve disputes he had with EC 

and MC on terms satisfactory to them and, after he failed to do so, terminating him as President 

and CEO. The undisputed material facts are the following: 

• Plaintiffwas President and CEO ofRDI until he purportedly was terminated by the RDI 

board of directors on June 12,2015. 

• On January 15, 2015, all five of the non-Cotter members of the RDI board of Directors 

unanimously agreed and resolved that, for the RDI board of directors to terminate Plaintiff, 

a majority of the outside directors would be required to vote in favor of doing so. 

• In May 2015, Plaintiffwas told that three of five outside directors ofRDI, namely, Adams, 

Kane and McEachern, were prepared to vote to terminate him as President and CEO if he 

failed to resolve certain disputes he had with EC and Me. 

I Defendants' Summary Judgment Motion No.1 is in some respects the counterpart to Plaintiffs motion for summary 
judgment, and Plaintiff therefore incorporates the evidence and arguments from his motion by way of reference. 
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• At a reconvened supposed special meeting of the RDI Board of Directors May 29,2015, 

EC told the RDI board that she and MC had reached a resolution of their disputes with 

Plaintiff. No vote regarding termination of Plaintiff was then had. 

• Plaintiff, EC and MC thereafter failed to resolve their disputes. 

• EC called another supposed special board meeting for June 12,2015. At the meeting, three 

of five outside directors, namely, Adams, Kane and McEachern, voted to terminate 

Plaintiff as President and CEO. Storey and Gould voted against termination. 

• Defendant Adams in May and June 2015 (and for some time previously, as well as since 

then) relied on companies controlled by EC and MC for a majority of his recurring income. 

• Defendant Kane had a five-decade, close personal and quasi-familial relationship with 

James J. Cotter, Sr. ("nC, Sr."); Kane believed he knew what nc, Sr.'s wishes were 

regarding a fundamental dispute between Plaintiff, on one hand, and EC and MC on the 

other hand, regarding whether MC alone or MC together with Plaintiffwas to be trustee(s) 

of a voting trust which would hold approximately seventy percent of the voting stock of 

RDI; Kane's view was that nc, Sr.'s wishes were that MC alone be the trustee. 

Thus, defendants lacked disinterestedness and independence, either generally or with 

respect to the particular challenged actions (here, the decisions to threaten Plaintiff with 

termination and to terminate him). Plaintiff has rebutted the presumption that the business 

judgment rule applies, and the burden shifts to the individual director defendants to demonstrate 

the entire fairness of both their process and the result (measured objectively) reached. 

Here, defendant Adams lacked independence because he was dependent on EC and MC for 

a majority of his income, including at the time he took the challenged actions. Additionally, he 

lacked disinterestedness with respect to the challenged action(s) because, he and his financial 

benefactors, EC and MC, personally stood to gain while other RDI shareholders would not. 

Defendant Kane generally lacked independence because of (1) his five-decade relationship 

with nc, Sr.; (2) his view that he knew what Sr. 's wishes were regarding a critical item in dispute 

between Plaintiff and EC and MC, who would be the trustee(s) of the voting trust; (3) his view 

that it was the wishes of nc, Sr. that MC alone be the trustee of that voting trust; and (4) his 
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1 insistence that Plaintiff accede the demands ofEC and MC or be terminated. Likewise, Kane 

2 lacked disinterestedness with respect to the subject decisions, including for the same reasons. 

3 The individual defendants cannot satisfy the entire fairness test with respect to the 

4 "process" by which they threatened and effected Plaintiffs termination. Nor can they demonstrate 

5 the objective fairness of threatening him with termination unless he resolved disputes with MC 

6 and EC on terms satisfactory to the two of them and terminating him when he failed to do so. 

7 Where, as here, director defendants cannot satisfy their burden of demonstrating the entire 

8 fairness of the challenged conduct, the challenged conduct may be avoided by the corporation or 

9 by its shareholders. That is exactly the relief Plaintiff seeks hereby, which RDI and he are entitled 

10 to receive, namely, an order that declares the decision to terminate Plaintiff as President and CEO 

11 ofRDI as void or voidable and, to the point, of no force or effect. 

12 II. PROCEDURAL HISTORY OF AND THE CLAIMS MADE IN THIS CASE 

13 Plaintiffs SAC states four claims, for breach of the fiduciary duty of care, breach of the 

14 fiduciary duty of loyalty, breach of the fiduciary duty of candor and disclosure, and aiding and 

15 abetting breach of fiduciary duty. 

16 The SAC alleges a wrongful course of conduct by the director defendants to seize control 

17 ofRDI in order to further their personal financial and other interests, in derogation of their 

18 fiduciary duties. (SAC, ~ 1.) The SAC alleges an ongoing course of conduct, including (1) 

19 threatening Plaintiff with termination if he did not settle trust and estate disputes on terms 

20 satisfactory to EC and MC and terminating him when he failed to do so (SAC, ~~ 4, 72-94); (2) 

21 activating and repopulating an executive committee and forcibly "retiring" Tim Storey, to secure 

22 their control ofRDI and eliminate the participation of Plaintiff and Storey as directors (SAC, ~~ 8, 

23 99,127-134); (3) misusing RDI's corporate machinery, including through Kane and Adams as 

24 members of the RD I Board of Directors Compensation Committee authorizing the exercise of a 

25 supposed option to acquire 100,000 shares ofRDI Class B voting stock (SAC, ~~ 10, 102-108); (4) 

26 stacking the RDI Board of Directors with persons whose sole "qualification" to be an RDI director 

27 was personal friendship with a Cotter family member (SAC, ~~ 11, 121-134); (5) manipulating 

28 RDI's SEC disclosures and annual shareholders meetings to disguise and effectuate their 
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1 entrenchment scheme (SAC, ~~ 12, 13, 101-135 and 136); (6) manipulating and aborting a CEO 

2 search process to ensure that EC was selected (SAC, ~~ 14, 13-147); (7) looting the Company, 

3 including by employing MC in a highly compensated senior executive position for which she had 

4 no prior experience or professional qualifications (SAC, ~~ 15, 148-153) and, most recently, by 

5 rejecting third-parties' Offer to purchase all the outstanding stock ofRDI at a price well in excess 

6 of the price at which it traded in the market, without taking any action to determine what was in 

7 the best interests ofRDI and its shareholders other than EC and MC (SAC, ~~ 16, 154-162). 

8 Plaintiffs claims all arise from an ongoing course of conduct, aptly described as 

9 entrenchment, not from a series of unrelated, one-off, coincidental actions as they are framed in 

10 the Interested Director Defendants' MSJs. 

11 III. RESPONSE TO FACTUAL ASSERTIONS 

12 The Director Defendants portray Plaintiffs appointment as CEO as some accident 

13 occasioned by nc, Sr.'s death. In reality, nc, Sr. intended Plaintiff to succeed him. In a memo 

14 to the compensation committee dated January 16, 2009, nc, Sr. expressly suggested nc succeed 

15 him. (Appendix Ex. [1] (JCOTTEROI45336).) 

16 The Director Defendants devote a section of their brief to discussing an invented argument 

17 they call "Significant Problems with Plaintiffs Managerial Skills Become Obvious." (Defs.' Mot. 

18 for Summ. J. No.1 at p. 5:17.) This theme, and the flimsy evidence taken out of context to 

19 support it, contradicts what at least some directors actually felt at the time, that is, before they had 

20 a motive to retroactively color their statements and give testimony that serve their present 

21 litigation goals. For example, Director Kane proclaimed in a June 8, 2015 email to nc that "there 

22 is no one more qualified to be the CEO of this company than you." (Appendix Ex. [2] 

23 (JCOTTER009286).) A day earlier, Kane said "I want you to be CEO and run the company for 

24 the next 30 years or more." (Id.) And, these statements came in the midst of the meetings that led 

25 to Plaintiffs ouster. So, contrary to the spin Defendants give the evidence, no uniform body of 

26 evidence shows that Plaintiff s managerial style caused concern for the directors. This remains a 

27 sharply disputed point incapable of resolution through a summary process. 

28 
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1 Director Defendants mischaracterize Director Storey's feeling regarding Plaintiff's work as 

2 CEO. They claim "Storey concluded that Plaintiff 'needs to make progress in the business and 
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with Ellen and Margaret [Cotter] quickly, or the board will need to look to alternatives to protect 

the interests of the company." (Defs.' Mot. Summ. 1. at p. 8:27-9:1.) 

First, this ambiguous statement does not explicitly reflect any desire by Director Storey to 

terminate Plaintiff. Director Storey subsequently expressed his approval of Plaintiff's work. 

Specifically, Storey's notes from May 21,2015, say that "none of the steps [Plaintiff] proposes to 

take or has in fact taken are unusual or untoward." (Appendix Ex. [5] (TS0000061).) Storey then 

added "[0 ]ther than from Margaret or Ellen, ... I haven't heard of any material negativity from 

any other executive as to the CEOs requirements." (Id.) Storey recognized the particular 

governance challenges Plaintiff faced in his sisters. (Id.) Despite all this, Storey concluded that 

"progress has been made in a number of respects," and cautioned that "the resolution need not 

necessarily be removal of the CEO ... it could be the removal of the other executives-or all of 

them." (Id. at -62-63; see also Appendix Ex. [3] (WG Dep. Ex. 61) (discussing progress).) 

Once again, the evidence shows a factual dispute concerning the mindset ofRDI directors 

as to Plaintiff's termination. 

The Defendants portray the May 21,2015 meeting as a natural progression of events-"a 

months-long effort to address and alleviate ongoing conflicts." (Defs' Mot. Summ. 1. No.1 at 6-

8.) In reality, on Tuesday May 19,2015, EC distributed an agenda for a RDI board of directors 

meeting on Thursday, May 21,2015. (Appendix Ex. [6] (EC Dep. Ex. 339).) The first agenda 

item was "Status of President and CEO." (Id.) This subject had not been previously addressed at 

an RDI Board of Directors meeting. Indeed, a draft agenda a few days earlier made no mention of 

the subject. (Appendix Ex. [ 7] (EC Dep. Ex. 338.) Storey wrote in a May 20,2015 email to 

Director Gould that "I am only assuming the matter before us is a resolution to immediately 

remove the CEO-that isn't clear from the agenda, or any direct comment made to me by any 

party." (Appendix Ex. [ 8] (TS0000073).) The Defendants have attempted to obscure the official 

record of the May 21, 2015 board meeting, producing the fictional minutes in redacted form, 

which excise the advice of counsel. (Appendix Ex. [9] (GA000003864).) 
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The evidence does not support Defendants' argument that JJC was fired after a deliberate, 

regular, and lawful process. (See Defs.' Mot. Summ. J. 9:27-10:2.) Rather, Plaintiff was 

threatened with termination if he failed to resolve disputes with his sisters on their terms, and then 

terminated when Kane, Adams, and McEachern voted to terminate him. 

On June 8, 2015, JJC advised EC and MC that he could not accept their lawyers' 

settlement document. MC responded that she "would notify the board that you are unwilling to 

take our offer despite your acceptance to most of it last week." (JJC Dec. at ~ 18; Appendix Ex. 

[12] (MC Dep. Ex. 327); Appendix Ex. [13] (MC 5/13/16 Dep. Tr. at 368:13-369:22); see also 

Appendix Ex. [13] (MC 5/12/16 Dep. Tr. 271 :22-279:7); Appendix Ex. [14] (Dep. Ex. 156);.) 

On June 10,2015, EC transmitted an email to all RD1 board members stating, among other 

things, that "we would like to reconvene the Meeting that was adjourned on Friday, May 29th
, at 

approximately 6:15 p.m. (Los Angeles time.)" (JJC Dec. at ~ 19). 

When the tentative agreement did not come to fruition, Kane resumed his advocacy toward 

Plaintiff, including on June 11,2015, stating: "I do believe that if you give up what you consider 

'control' for now to work cooperatively with your sisters," Kane admonished, "you will find that 

you will have a lot more commonality than you think." (Appendix Ex. [15] (Kane Dep. Ex. 306 at 

p. EK 00001613).) "Otherwise," Kane threatened, "you will be sorry for the rest of your life, they 

and your mother will be hurt and your children will lose a golden opportunity." (Id.) Tellingly, 

Kane also wrote that JJC, Sr. gave MC the right to vote the B stock to force them to work together, 

and that trying to change that would be a "nonstarter." (Appendix Ex. 15 Kane Dep. Ex. 306).) 

Kane testified repeatedly that Plaintiffs failure to accede to his sisters' settlement demands cost 

him his job. (Appendix Ex. [ 16] (Kane 5/2/16 Dep. Tr.194-195 (testifying that he told JJC to 

"take [the settlement offer]. ... You're going to get terminated if you don't."). 

On Friday, June 12,2015, a supposed RD1 board of directors special meeting was 

convened. Adams and Kane (and McEachern) voted to terminate JJC (as did MC and EC). Storey 

and Gould voted against terminating JJC as President and CEO. (JJC Dec. at ~ 20; Appendix Ex. 

[16] (Kane 5/2/16 Dep. Tr. 191:25-192:12, 193:3-194-10); Appendix Ex. [4] (Storey 2/12/16 

Dep. Tr. 139:22-140-11); see also Appendix Ex. [17] (TS 8/3/16 Dep. Tr. 75:4-76: 16 and 81 :22-
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1 82:6).) In January 2016, EC was made permanent President and CEO ofRDI. (JJC Dec. at ~ 21). 

2 Adams, MacEachern, and Kane predetermined their vote before any actual deliberations-

3 and they did so over the protests of other directors, who felt railroaded into a foregone outcome. 

4 Prior to May 19, 2015, each of Adams and Kane (and McEachern) communicated to EC and/or 

5 among themselves their respective agreement to vote as RDI directors to terminate JJC as 

6 President and CEO ofRDI. (Appendix Ex. [30] (EC 6/16/16 Dep. Tr. 175:17-176:8); Appendix 

7 Ex. [4] (Storey 2/12/16 Dep. Tr. at 96:5-91:4,98:21-100:8,100:14-101:11); Appendix Ex. 9 

8 (Adams 4/28/16 Dep. Tr. at 98:7-17; 98:18-99:22); Appendix Ex. [21] (Adams 4/29/16 Dep. Tr. 

9 378:15-370:5); see also Appendix Ex. [18] (TS 8/31/16 Dep. Tr. 66:22-67:20) and Appendix Ex. 

10 [19] (Dep. Ex 131).) During their planning prior to the May 21 meeting, Kane on May 18, 2016 

11 sent an email to Adams in which Kane agreed to second the motion for JCJ's termination, if 

12 necessary: 

13 See if you can get someone else to second the motion [to terminate Plaintiff]. If 
the vote is 5-3 I might want to abstain and make it 4-3. Ifit's needed I will vote. 

14 It's personal and goes back 51 years. Ifno one else will second it I will. 

15 (Appendix Ex. [28] (Dep. Ex. 81 at GA00005500).) 

16 Gould and Storey objected that the non-Cotter directors had not employed a proper process 

17 regarding terminating JJC and requested that the non-Cotter directors meet before the May 21 

18 meeting. Gould warned they could "face possible claims for breach of fiduciary duty if the Board 

19 takes action without following a process." (Appendix Ex. [23] (Gould Dep. Ex. 318).) Storey 

20 used the term "kangaroo court," and noted, "[A]s directors we can't just do what a shareholder [, 

21 meaning EC and MC,] asks." 2 (Appendix Ex. [24] (Kane Dep. Ex. 116).) Kane responded they 

22 did not need to meet, stating "the die is cast." (Appendix Ex. [25] (EK Dep. Ex. 117 at 

23 TS000069).) 

24 The supposed special board meeting on May 29 commenced, and Adams made a motion to 

25 terminate Plaintiff as President and CEO. In response, Plaintiff questioned Adams' independence 

26 and/or disinterestedness. (JJC Dec. at ~ 15). The meeting eventually was adjourned until 6:00 PM. 

27 

28 
2 Gould and Storey also were of the view that the ombudsman process was to continue into June 2016, at which time 
Storey would report further and the five would determine next steps. (Appendix Ex. [17] (TS 8/3/16 Dep. Tr. 33: 12-
36:16 and 37:15-38:20).) 
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1 Plaintiff was told that he needed to resolve his disputes with his sisters or suffer termination. (Id.) 

2 Defendants have wrongfully insisted that Plaintiff resign as Company director. For 

3 example, on June 15, 2016 EC declared that Plaintiff's unlawful termination "obligates you to 

4 resign immediately from the board of Directors," which requirement, EC argued, was an 

5 obligation of Plaintiff's employment contract. (Appendix Ex. [26] (lun 15,2016 Letter).) RDI's 

6 SEC Form 8-K dated June 12,2015 repeated this false claim. (Appendix Ex. [27] (Ellis Dep. Ex. 

7 347).) Gould, who drafted Plaintiff's employment contract, testified that this was not required: "1 

8 drafted the contract .... And it did say in there he would resign. But what we intended that to 

9 mean was his position as president." (Appendix Ex. [20] (Gould 6/8/16 Dep. Tr. 244:16-246:6.) 

10 Gould communicated the wrongfulness ofEC's position to the Board, to RDI's in-house attorney, 

11 and to EC-but EC sent the letter in question and caused the erroneous SEC filing. (Id.) 

12 IV. 

13 

ARGUMENT 

A. Director Defendants' Fiduciary Duties. 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

The power of directors to act on behalf of a corporation is governed by their fiduciary 

relationship to the corporation and to its shareholders. Shoen v. SAC Holding Corp., 137 P.3d 

1171, 1178 (Nev. 2006) (citations omitted). Generally, those duties are described as the duty of 

care and the duty ofloyalty. (Id.) The duty of good faith may be viewed as implicit in the duties 

of care and loyalty, or as part of a "triumvirate" of fiduciary duties. See In re BioClinica, Inc. 

Shareholder Litig., No. CV 8272-VCG, 2013 WL 5631233, at *5 (Del. Ch. Oct. 16,2013); 

Brookstone Partners Acquisition XVI, LLC v. Tanus, No. CIV.A. 7533-VCN, 2012 WL 5868902, 

at *2 (Del. Ch. Nov. 20, 2012). 

1. The Duty of Care 

23 The duty of care typically is described as requiring directors to act on an informed basis. 

24 Schoen, 137 P.3d at 1178. Whether directors acted on an informed basis "turns on whether the 

25 directors have informed themselves "prior to making a business decision, of all material 

26 information reasonably available to them." Smith v. Van Gorkom, 488 A. 2d 858,872 (Del. 1985) 

27 (quoting Aronson v. Lewis, 473 A. 2d 805,812 (Del. 1984). Due care thus is a function of the 

28 decision-making process, not the decision. See, e.g., Citron v. Fairchild Camera & Instrument 
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Corp., 569 A. 2d 53,66 (Del. 1989). This necessarily raises "[t]he question [of] whether the 

process employed [in making the challenged decision] was either rational or employed in a good 

faith effort to advance the corporate interests." In re Greater Se. Cmty. Hosp. Corp. I, 353 B.R. 

324, 339 (Bankr. D.D.C. 2006). 

2. The Duty of Loyalty 

The director's duty of loyalty requires that directors "maintain, in good faith, the 

corporation's and its shareholders' best interests over anyone else's interests." Schoen, 137 P.3d at 

1178 (citations omitted). The duty of loyalty was described in Guth v. Loft as follows: 

"Corporate officers and directors are not permitted to use their position of 
trust and confidence to further their private interests. While technically not 
trustees, they stand in a fiduciary relation to the corporation and [to] its 
shareholders. A public policy, existing through the years, and derived from 
a profound knowledge of human characteristics and motives, has 
established a rule that demands of a corporate ... director, peremptorily and 
inexorably, the most scrupulous observance of his duty [ofloyalty], not 
only affirmatively to protect the interests of the corporation committed to 
his charge, but also to refrain from doing anything that would work injury 
to the corporation [or its shareholders] ... The rule that requires an 
undivided and unselfish loyalty to the corporation demands that there shall 
be no conflict between duty and self-interests." 

Guth v. Loft, 5 A.2d 503,510 (Del. 1939). 

The terms "loyalty" and "good faith," are "words pregnant with obligation" and 

"[ d]irectors should not take a seat at the board table prepared to offer only conditional loyalty, 

tolerable good faith, reasonable disinterest or formalistic candor." In re Tyson Foods, Inc., 

Consolo Shareholder Litig., 2007 WL 2351071, at *4 (Del. Ch. Aug. 15,2007). 

3. The Duty of Disclosure 

"Whenever directors communicate publicly or directly with shareholders about the 

corporation's affairs ... directors have a fiduciary duty to shareholders to exercise due care, good 

faith and loyalty." Malone v. Brincat, 722 A.2d 5, 10 (Del. 1998). "Shareholders are entitled to 

rely upon the truthfulness of all information disseminated to them by the directors [of the 

corporation]." Id. at 10-11. When directors communicate with stockholders, they must do so with 

"complete candor." In re Tyson Foods, Inc., No. CIY.A. 1106-CC, 2007 WL 2351071, at *3 (Del. 

Ch. Aug. 15,2007). 
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4. Directors' Fiduciary Duties Are Owed to All Shareholders, Not Just the 
Controlling Shareholder( s) 

Directors owe all stockholders, not just the stockholders who appointed them, "an 

uncompromising duty of loyalty." In re Trados Inc. S'Holder Litig., 73 A.3d 17,36 (Del. Ch. 

2013). Under some circumstances, it is a breach ofloyalty for directors not to act to protect the 

minority stockholders from a controlling stockholder. Louisiana Mun. Police Emp. Ret. Sys. v. 

Fertitta, 2009 WL 2263406, at *8 (Del. Ch. July 28,2009) (finding that the failure to act in the 

face of a controlling stockholder's threat to the corporation and its minority stockholders 

supported a reasonable inference that the board of directors breached its duty of loyalty). 

B. The Business Judgment Rule Is a Rebuttable Presumption, Rebutted Here 

The business judgment rule is a rebuttable presumption that "in making a business decision 

the directors of a corporation acted on an informed basis, in good faith, and in the honest belief 

that the action was taken in the best interests of the company." See, e.g., In Re Walt Disney Co. 

Derivative Litig., 906 A.2d 27,52 (Del. 2006) (quoting Aronson v. Lewis, 473 A.2d 805,812 (Del. 

1984». In Nevada, the business judgment rule is codified in NRS § 78.138.3, which provides that 

"[d]irectors and officers, in deciding upon matters of business, are presumed to act in good faith, 

on an informed basis and with a view to the interests of the corporation." 

The business judgment rule typically is articulated as consisting of four elements: (i) a 

business decision, (ii) disinterestedness and independence, (iii) due care, and (iv) good faith. 

Roselink Investors, L.L.C. v. Shenkman, 386 F. Supp. 2d 209,2016 (S.D.NY. 2004) (citations 

omitted). The presumptions of the business judgment rule are rebutted where any of the four 

elements is absent. Id. at 216-17. Here, at least each of the last three elements is absent. 

With respect to disinterestedness and independence, because two (Gould and Storey) of the 

five non-Cotter directors voted against termination, Plaintiff need only show that one of the three 

directors who voted to terminate Plaintiff had an interest in the challenged conduct or lacked 

independence from others (here EC and MC) who had an interest in the challenged conduct. 

There is no dispute that, as to at least any matters of disagreement between EC and MC 

and nc, MC and EC lack disinterestedness and lack independence. The Interested Director 

Defendants admit that in their summary judgment motions, including as follows: 
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The Individual Defendants, for the purposes of this motion [regarding "director 
independence"], do not contest the independence of Ellen and Margaret Cotter as 
RDI directors with respect to the transactions and, or corporate conduct at issue--­
which are addressed in the Individual Defendants' other, contemporaneously-filed 
summary judgment motions. 

("Individual Defendants' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (No.2) Re: the Issue of 

DirectorIndependence" at p. 14, fn. 2.) 

1. Individual Defendants' Lack of Disinterestedness 

With respect to disinterestedness, because the business judgment rule presumes that 

directors have no conflict of interest, the business judgment rule does not apply where "directors 

have an interest other than as directors of the corporation." Lewis v. S.L. & E., Inc., 629 F.2d 764, 

769 (2d Cir. 1980). This is because "[d]irectorial interest exists whenever divided loyalties are 

present ... " Rales v. Blasband, 634 A. 2d 927,933 (Del. 1993) (internal citations and quotations 

omitted). Thus, a director must be disinterested in the challenged conduct in particular and, as a 

general matter, otherwise independent. Beam, 845 A.2d at 1049. 

As the Interested Director Defendants acknowledge, EC and MC lack disinterestedness 

with respect to the challenged actions, starting with the threat to terminate Plaintiff unless he 

resolved the California Trust Action and other matters on terms satisfactory to EC and MC, and 

continuing thereafter with the termination of him on account of his failure to do so. 

The same is true, for largely the same reasons, for defendant Kane, who is called "Uncle 

Ed" by EC and MC and who, by his contemporaneous conduct demonstrated that he acted as 

"Uncle Ed" throughout to effectuate what he thought were nc, Sr.' s wishes, and not as a 

disinterested RDI director exercising disinterested business judgment. 

Likewise, Adams admittedly picked sides in a family dispute. He also demonstrated his 

lack of disinterestedness by, among other things, vigorously pursuing the EC and MC agenda, 

starting with the termination of Plaintiff, to further his own interest (including to be interim CEO) 

and to protect the interests ofEC and MC, on whom he is financially dependent.3 

For such reasons, among others, EC, MC, Kane, and Adams each lack disinterestedness 

3 Plaintiff does not concede that McEachern was disinterested and/or independent. Because Plaintiff can prevail on 
this Motion without showing McEachern to have lacked disinterestedness or independence, he chooses not to address 
McEachern. 
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with respect to the challenged action of threatening Plaintiff and terminating Plaintiff. For that 

reason alone, each is not entitled to the presumptions of the business judgment rule in connection 

with their actions to threaten Plaintiff and to terminate him as President and CEO ofRDI. 

2. Individual Defendants' Lack of Independence 

Independence, as used in the context of an element of the business judgment rule, requires 

a director to engage in decision-making "based on the corporate merits of the subject before the 

board rather than extraneous considerations or influences." Gilbert v. El Paso, Co., 575 A.2d 

1131,1147 (Del. 1990); Rales, 634 A.2d at 936. "Directors must not only be independent, [they 

also] must act independently." Telxon Corp. v. Meyerson, 802 A.2d 257,264 (Del. 2003). 

Assessing directorial independence "focus[es] on impartiality and objectiveness." In Re Oracle 

Corp. Derivative Litig., 824 A.2d 917,920,938 (Del. Ch. 2003) (quoting Parfi Holding AB v. 

Mirror Image Internet, Inc., 794 A.2d 1211,1232 (Del. Ch. 2001), rev'd in part on other grounds, 

817 A.2d 149 (Del. 2002); see Cede & Co. v. Technicolor, Inc., 634 A.2d 345,362 (Del. 1993) 

("We have generally defined a director as being independent only when the director's decision is 

based entirely on the corporate merits of the transaction and is not influenced by personal or 

extraneous considerations") modified in part on other grounds, 636 A.2d 956 (Del. 1994). 

"Independence is a fact-specific determination made in the context of a particular case. 

The Court must make that determination by answering the inquiries: independent from whom and 

independent for what purpose?" Beam, 845 A.2d at 1049-50. 

Independence is lacking in situations in which a corporate fiduciary derives a 
benefitJrom the transaction that is not generally shared with the other shareholders. 
In situations in which the benefit is derived by another, the issue is whether the 
[ corporate fiduciary]' s decision resulted from that director being controlled by 
another." Orman v. Cullman, 794 A.2d 5, 25 n.50 (Del. Ch. 2002) (explaining the 
distinction between interest and independence). Control may exist where a 
corporate fiduciary has close personal or financial ties to or is beholden to another. 

Id. A close personal friendship in which the director and the person with whom he or she 

has the questioned relationship are "as thick as blood relations" would likely be sufficient 

to demonstrate that a director is not independent. In re MFW S'Holders Litig., 67 A.3d 

496,509 n.37 (Del. Ch. 2013). 

Similarly, a director who is financially beholden to another person, such as a controlling 
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stockholder, is not independent of that person. In re Emerging Commc 'n, Inc. S'Holders Litig., 

2004 WL 1305745, at *33 (Del. Ch. May 3, 2004). The Court of Chancery has found that 

directors who derive a substantial portion of their income from a controlling stockholder are not 

independent of that stockholder. Id. at *34. "In such circumstances, a director cannot be expected 

to exercise his or her independent business judgment without being influenced by the ... personal 

consequences resulting from the decision." Beam v. Stewart, 845 A.2d 1040, 1049 (Del. 2004) 

(quoting Rales v. Blasband, 634 A.2d 927,936 (Del. 1993)). 

Here, the conduct ofEC, MC, Kane, and Adams to extort Plaintiff into resolving trust and 

estate disputes on terms dictated by EC and MC are squarely and unequivocally efforts to obtain 

personal benefits for EC and MC not shared with other RDI shareholders. Kane's personal 

relationship with nc, Sr., Kane's view that nc, Sr. intended MC control the Voting Trust, and 

Kane's actions to make that happen, among other things, demonstrate his lack of independence. 

As shown by his own sworn testimony in his Los Angeles Superior Court divorce proceeding and 

in this case, Adams as a general matter is not independent ofEC and MC, because he is financially 

dependent upon income he receives from companies that EC and MC control. For such reasons, 

among others, each of Kane and Adams (and MC and EC) lacked independence and therefore are 

not entitled to the presumptions of the business judgment rule. 

3. Individual Defendants' Lack of Good Faith 

The element of good faith requires the director to act with a "loyal state of mind." 

Hampshire Group, Ltd., v. Kuttner, 2010 WL 2739995, at *12 (Del. Ch. July 12, 2010). The 

concept of good faith is particularly relevant in cases in which there is a "controlling shareholder 

with a supine or passive board." In Re Walt Disney Co. Derivative Litig., 907 A.2d 693, 761 

nA87 (Del. Ch. 2005), aff'd, 906 A.2d 27 (Del. 2006). In such cases, "[g]ood faith may serve to 

fill [the] gap [between a fiduciary duties of care and loyalty] and insure that the persons entrusted 

by shareholders to govern [the] corporations do so with an honesty of purpose and with an 

understanding of whose interests they are there to protect." Id. 

Here, in threatening plaintiff with termination and terminating him when he failed to 

succumb to the threats, Adams and Kane demonstrated unwavering loyalty-to MC and EC-not 
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to RDI by its other shareholders. Adams and Kane contemporaneously evidenced this, including 

by their own emails to one another and, as to Kane, to Plaintiff. (Appendix Ex. [28] (Dep. Ex. 81 

at GA00005500); Appendix Ex. [29] (Adams Dep. Ex. 85 at GA00005544-45; see also Appendix 

Ex. [17] (TS 8/3/16 Dep. Tr. 65: 12-66:20).) They diligently pursued and protected the interests of 

Ee and Me, not the interests ofRDI and its other shareholders. 

4. Individual Defendants Failed To Exercise Due Care 

Even had Ee, Me, Kane, Adams, and McEachern acted in good faith and in a manner 

that each reasonably could have believed to be in the best interests ofRDI in taking the actions 

complained of herein, which was not the case, they failed to engage in a process to decide and act 

on an informed basis in view of the nature and importance of the decisions made. Indeed, the lack 

of process was contemporaneously memorialized by each of directors Storey and Gould. Storey 

referred to a "kangaroo court," and Gould predicted that they all would be sued for breaching 

their fiduciary duties. (Appendix Ex. [23] (Gould Dep. Ex. 318); Appendix Ex. [24] (Kane Dep. 

Ex. 116).) Adams and Kane acknowledged that their conduct entailed picking sides in the family 

dispute to threaten Plaintiff with termination and thereafter to carry out the termination threat after 

Plaintiff declined succumb to the coercion. (Appendix Ex. [ 29] (Adams Dep. Ex. 85 at 

GA00005544-45; see also Appendix Ex. [17] (TS 8/3/16 Dep. Tr. 65:12-66:20).) The result was 

that his termination was afait accompli determined by Ee, Me, Kane, Adams, and McEachern 

prior to the first (May 21,2015) supposed special RDI Board of Directors meeting at which the 

subject was raised. (Appendix Ex. [24] (Kane Dep. Ex. 116); Appendix Ex. 8 (TS0000073); 

Appendix Ex. [30] (Ee 6/16/16 Dep. Tr. 175:17-176:8); Appendix Ex. [4] (Storey 2/12/16 Dep. 

Tr. at 96:5-91:4,98:21-100:8,100:14-101:11); Appendix Ex. [31] (Adams 4/28/16 Dep. Tr. at 

98:7-17; 98:18-99:22); Appendix Ex. [21] (Adams 4/29/16 Dep. Tr. 378:15-370:5); see also 

Appendix Ex. [18] (TS 8/31/16 Dep. Tr. 66:22-67:20) and Appendix Ex. [19] (Dep. Ex 131).) 

This conduct and the lack of process alone constitutes a breach of the duty of care. 

C. Defendants Must and Cannot Satisfy the Entire Fairness Standard 

"If the shareholder succeeds in rebutting the presumption of the business judgment rule, 

the burden shifts to the defendant directors to prove the 'entire fairness' of the transaction." 
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McMullin v. Brand, 765 A.2d 910,917 (Del. 2000). Horwitz v. SW Forest Indus., Inc., 604 

F.Supp. 1130, 1134 (D. Nev. 1985), which defendants cite for the platitude that the business 

judgment rule applies to claims of breach of fiduciary duty against a director, is not to the contrary 

and does not address circumstance of where, as here, the plaintiff has rebutted the presumption of 

the business judgment rule.4 In Shoen v. SAC Holding Corp., 122 Nev. 621, 137 P.3d 1171 

(2006), the Nevada Supreme Court adopted the entire fairness doctrine, citing Oberly v. Kirby, 592 

A.2d 445,469 (Del. 1991). Id. at 640 n. 61, 137 P.3d at 1185 n. 61 Under that doctrine, when a 

transaction is effected or approved by directors with an interest therein, "[t]he interested directors 

bear the burden of proving the entire fairness of the transaction in all its aspects, including both the 

fairness of the price and the fairness of the directors' dealings." Oberly, 592 A.2d at 469; accord 

Reis v. Hazelett Strip-Casting Corp., 28 A.3d 442,459 (Del. Ch. 2011) ("Once entire fairness 

applies, the defendants must establish to the court's satisfaction that the transaction was the 

product of both fair dealing and fair price.") (quotation omitted). 

Under the entire fairness test, "[ d]irector defendants therefore are required to establish to 

the court's satisfaction that the transaction was the product of both fair dealing and fair price." 

Cinerama, Inc. v. Technicolor, 663 A.2d 1156, 1163 (Del. 1995) (quoting Cede & Co. v. 

Technicolor, 634 A.2d 345,361 (Del. 1993). Thus, a test of entire fairness is a two-part inquiry 

into the fair-dealing, meaning the process leading to the challenged action and, separately, the end 

result. In re Tele-Commc 'ns Inc. Shareholders Litig., 2005 Del. Ch. LEXIS 206, at *235, 2005 

WL 3642727, at *9 (Del. Ch. Sept. 29, 2005). 

The Motion makes no mention of this standard. In addition the Motion does not discuss the 

"omnipresent specter" that the Defendants were acting primarily in their own interests or for 

entrenchment purposes. Unocal Corp. v. Mesa Petroleum Co., 493 A.2d 946,954 (Del. 1985); see 

also eBay Domestic Holdings, Inc. v. Newmark, 16 A.3d 1, 36 (Del. Ch. 2010). 

4 Citing NRS §§ 78.139 and 78.140, the Interested Director Defendants in a footnote (Motion at 20, fn. 5) posit that 
"an 'entire fairness' review can be triggered only" under the particular circumstances addressed by those two statutory 
provisions. NRS § 78.139 concerns the duties of directors in circumstances where there is a change or potential 
change of control of the corporation and NRS 78.140 is Nevada's version of the standard statutory modification of the 
common law principal that all interested director transactions are void. By their terms, on their face, those two 
statutory provisions do not speak to circumstances other than those described above. Understandably, no authority is 
cited for the obviously unsupported and erroneous conclusion proffered in that footnote. 
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The entire fairness requirement entails "exacting scrutiny" to determine whether the 

challenged actions were entirely fair. Paramount Commc 'ns, Inc. v. QVC Network Inc., 637 A.2d 

34,42 n.9 (Del. 1994). Under the entire fairness standard, the challenged action itself must be 

objectively fair, independent of the beliefs of the director defendants. Geoffv. II Cindus.Inc., 902 

A.2d 1130, 1145 (Del. Ch. 2006); see also Venhill Ltd. P'ship ex rei. Stallkamp, No. ClY.A. 1866-

YCS, 2008 WL 2270488, at *22 (Del. Ch. June 3, 2008). "The fairness test therefore is "an 

inquiry designed to assess whether a self-dealing transaction should be respected or set aside in 

equity." Venhill, 2008 WL 2270488 at *22.5 

Here, Defendants cannot carry their burden of proving the entire fairness of their actions in 

threatening to terminate and terminating Plaintiff as President and CEO ofRDI. They cannot 

carry their burden of demonstrating the entire fairness of the "process" leading to the termination 

threats and the termination. They cannot carry their burden of showing that the threatened 

termination and the termination were objectively fair, independent of the personal beliefs of any or 

all of Kane, Adams, McEachern, EC and MC.6 

5 First, invocation of Nevada' s exculpatory statute, NRS 78.13 8. 7, misapprehends the function of the statute, which is 
to limit monetary liability and recovery, not to serve as a means by which the legal sufficiency of a fiduciary duty 
claim is assessed. Emerald Partners v. Berlin, 787 A.2d 85, 92 (Del. 2001) ("a Section 102(b )(7) provision does not 
operate to defeat the validity of a plaintiffs claim on the merits," but "it can operate to defeat the plaintiffs ability to 
recover monetary damages. ") 

Second, even if the exculpatory statute were properly invoked, which it is not, it has no application where, as 
here, duty ofloyalty (and disclosure) claims also are made. McMillan v. Intercargo Corp., 768 A.2d 492,501 n. 41 
(Del. Ch. 2000) (the exculpatory statute does not apply to breaches duty of loyalty because "conduct not in good 
faith, intentional misconduct, and knowing violations oflaw" are "quintessential examples of disloyal, i.e., faithless, 
conduct"). Here, the complained of or challenged conduct also and obviously entails breaches of the duty ofloyalty 
(and disclosure). Orman v. Cullman, 794 A.2d 5,41 (Del. Ch. 2002) (plaintiff pleaded a breach of the duty of 
loyalty claim where it "pled facts which made it reasonable to question the independence and disinterest of a 
majority of the Board that decided what information to include in the Proxy Statement"); O'Reilly v. Transworld 
Healthcare, Inc., 745 A.2d 902,914-15,920, n.34 (Del. Ch. 2014) ("right complaint alleges or pleads facts 
sufficient to support the inference that the disclosure violation was made in bad faith, knowingly or intentionally, the 
alleged violation implicates the duty ofloyalty" and is relevant to the availability of the exculpatory provisions of 
section 102(b)(7)): In re Wheelabrator Techs., Inc. Sh. Litig., 1992 Del. Ch. LEXIS at *41 n.18, 1992 WL 212595, 
at *12 n.18 (Del. Ch. Sept. 1, 1992) (§102(b)(7) did not require dismissal where the plaintiffs pleaded that "the 
breach of the duty of disclosure wasn't intentional violation of the duty ofloyalty"). 
6 The Interested Director Defendants apparently intend to defend their decision to terminate JJC under NRS 
78.138.2(b) by asserting reliance on counsel. (See Motion at 19: 17 ("utilized the services of outside counsel") and 
Motion at p. 20, fn 4) ("the fact that the RDI Board utilized both the Company's outside counsel and its own counsel, 
separately retained, when evaluating Plaintiff's performance and its duties is further evidence of the exercise of 
protected business judgment.") However, the Interested Director Defendants have failed to produce any documents 
concerning advice from counsel and, at their depositions, invariably refused to disclose such information on the 
grounds that it is privileged. As the Court previously ruled (and admonished counsel for the Interested Director 
Defendants), they cannot have it both ways. Plaintiff respectfully submits that the Court cannot consider the claimed 
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First, as to the process, the evidence shows that EC, MC, Kane, Adams, and McEachern 

had communicated and agreed, prior to the May 19,2015 agenda EC distributed that listed "status 

of President and CEO" as the first item, to vote to terminate Plaintiff as President and CEO of 

RDI. It is undisputed that there had been no prior discussion at RDI board meeting of the possible 

termination of Plaintiff as President and CEO. There also is no dispute that, at the time, both 

Directors Storey and Gould objected to the lack of process. Storey used the term "kangaroo 

court." Gould observed that all of the directors could be sued for breaching their fiduciary duties. 

In short, the "process" leading to the threat to terminate Plaintiff if he did not resolve trust and 

estate disputes with MC and EC and to terminate him all was set in private communications 

among EC, MC, Kane, Adams and McEachern prior to the supposed May 21 board meeting. 

What followed at the two-part supposed May 29,2015 board meeting was that Plaintiff 

was told that the meeting would be adjourned until 6:00 p.m. that evening and that he had until 

then to resolve the disputes he had with his sisters and that, if he failed to do so, the vote would 

proceed and he would be terminated. No honest or colorable argument can be made that what 

amounted to attempted extortion constitutes a process that meets the entire fairness standard. 

Of course, the termination vote did not occur on May 29,2015 because a tentative 

resolution had been struck by Plaintiff with his sisters. When that resolution did not come to 

fruition, EC convened another supposed special board meeting on June 12,2015 and the 

threatened termination vote was held. Kane, Adams and McEachern (and EC and MC) each voted 

to terminate Plaintiff as President and CEO and the "process" concluded. Thus, the "process" 

consisted of secret machinations and agreements, attempted extortion and execution on the 

extortion threat. No conceivable interest ofRDI or its shareholders persuasively or honestly can 

be argued in an unavailing effort to prove that the "process" was entirely fair. 

Likewise, the end result, whether the threatened termination of Plaintiff if he did not 

resolve disputes with his sisters on terms satisfactory to the two of them, the termination of him 

after he failed to do so, or both, is not a result the individual defendants can demonstrate was 

objectively fair. There is nothing objectively fair about attempted extortion. Nor is there anything 

reliance on counsel in connection with the Motion or any other Motion brought by the Interested Director Defendants. 
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objectively fair about executing on an extortion threat when it fails to bring about the conduct 

sought. The individual defendants cannot satisfy their burden of showing that the end result, the 

termination of Plaintiff after he failed to resolve disputes with this sisters on terms satisfactory to 

the two of them, was objectively fair. 

D. The Interested Director Defendants' Efforts to Avoid Having Their Actions As 
Fiduciaries Evaluated As Such Is Mistaken, and Damning 

The Defendants devote the first two sections of their "ARGUMENT" (Motion at 14:6-

17:9) to arguments that effectively assert that the actions of the directors ofRDI in threatening to 

terminate JJC and then terminating him when he did not acquiesce to their threats are actions that 

ought not be analyzed as the actions of directors as fiduciaries. In support, they cite inapposite 

cases concerning, for example, termination of an employee (an operating manager). (See Motion at 

14: 13-14, citing Ingle v. Gilmore Motor Sales, Inc., 73 N.Y.2d 183, 190 (1989) and holding that 

"the law of employment relations" should be the exclusive applicable legal construct where the 

plaintiff also is the terminated person (See Motion at 14: 15-18 (citation omitted).) This is a 

different version of the same argument the Court rejected previously in denying the motion by 

RDI to stay this case and compel arbitration. Indeed, the interested director defendants invocation 

ofRDI's bylaws-rather than JJC's employment agreement (Motion at 15: 14-21)-tacitly 

acknowledges that the conduct at issue here is that of defendants as directors, not RDI as the 

employer. In this regard (only), their citation to Klassen v. Allegro Dev. Corp., C.A. Case No. 

8262-VCL, 2013 WL 5967028, at *15 (Del. Ch. Nov.7, 2013) for the proposition that "[o]ften it is 

said that a board's most important task is to hire, monitor, and fire the CEO[,]" unintentionally 

points up what is at issue here, namely, whether the Director defendant breached fiduciary duties 

in threatening to terminate and terminating the CEO ofRDI. 7 

In short, these arguments are damning because they show that the Interested Director 

Defendants are desperate to avoid analysis of their actionable conduct as fiduciaries. 

E. The Interested Director Defendants' "Economic Harm" Argument Is 

7 The interested director defendants cite Klassen for the proposition that "Directors need not give a CEO advance 
notice of a plan to remove him at a regular board meeting." (Motion at 21;6.) Here, however, the supposed board 
meeting was a special meeting fIrst convened on May 21,2016, following a May 19, 2016 E-mail from EC that 
attached an agenda that included a purposefully vague and misleading agenda item entitled" status of president and 
CEO." 
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Erroneous, as a Matter of Law 

The Individual Director Defendants assert that, to avoid summary judgment, Plaintiff must 

produce "cognizable evidence" showing "that the breach [of fiduciary duty] proximately caused 

the damages" claimed incurred by the Company. For that proposition, they cite Brown v. Kinross 

Gold US.A., Inc., 531 F. Supp. 2d 1234,1245 (D. Nev. 2008). (Motion at 14:18-24.) The 

Individual Director Defendants also assert that, to sustain a fiduciary duty claim, there must be 

"cognizable evidence" of "economic harm suffered" by the Company resulting from the alleged 

breaches of fiduciary duty, citing a federal district court case from Colorado and an Arizona state 

court case. (Motion at 22: 13-21.) 

The Individual Director Defendants' "economic harm" argument is mistaken as a matter of 

law and is in reality a disguised exercise at question-begging. The Individual Director Defendants 

argue that their complained of conduct is governed by the business judgment rule. However, 

Plaintiff has introduced evidence sufficient to rebut the presumptions of the rule and require the 

Individual Director Defendants to satisfy the entire fairness test, as to which they bear the 

burden. Part of that burden is to show that the challenged result was entirely fair. The Individual 

Director Defendants' "economic harm" argument, therefore, begs the question of what is the 

standard by which the Individual Director Defendants' conduct is to be assessed. 

The Delaware Supreme Court in Cede & Co. v. Technicolor, Inc., 634 A.2d 345 (Del. 

1993), modified 636 A.2d 956 (Del. 1994), concluded that a requirement that a plaintiff show 

proof of loss "may" be "good law" in a tort action seeking to recover damages for negligence, but 

that such a requirement does not apply to a breach of fiduciary duty claim where the issue is the 

appropriate standard of review of the director defendants' challenged conduct. Id. at 370. The 

Delaware Supreme Court explained that that is the proper rule oflaw because "[t]he purpose of a 

trial court's application of an entire fairness standard of review to a challenged business 

transaction is simply to shift to the defendant directors the burden of demonstrating to the court 

the entire fairness of the transaction." Id. at 369. 

In a subsequent decision in the same case, the court emphasized that "[t]o inject a 

requirement of proof of injury into the [business judgment] rule's formulation for burden shifting 
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purposes is to lose sight of the underlying purpose of the rule." Cinerama, Inc. v. Technicolor, 

Inc., 663 A.2d 1156, 1166 (Del. 1995). Explaining further, the Delaware Supreme Court stated 

that "[ t ]to require proof of injury as a component of the proof necessary to rebut the business 

judgment presumption would convert the burden shifting process from a threshold determination 

of the appropriate standard of review to a dispositive adjudication on the merits." Id. 

Separately and, contrary to the "economic harm" argument proffered by the Individual 

Director Defendants in most-if not all-of their MSJ's, the Delaware Supreme Court has made 

clear that the courts may "fashion any form of equitable and monetary relief as may be 

appropriate." Technicolor, 663 A.2d at 1166 (quoting Technicolor, 634 A.2d at 371). 

Here, the Individual Director Defendants' repeated erroneous reliance on an imaginary 

"economic harm" requirement ignores the nature of this action, which is for breach of fiduciary 

duty-an action in equity in which equitable relief may be sought and obtained. 

Here, the prayer for relief in Plaintiff s SAC includes several requests for equitable relief, 

relating both to the termination of Plaintiff and to subsequent actions of the Individual Director 

Defendants to entrench themselves in control of the Company. Such relief may be sought and 

secured by way of a breach of fiduciary duty claim. 

"A general common law presumption is that a director's or officer's conflict of interest 

can result in the voiding of a transaction." Keith Paul Bishop & Jeffrey P. Zucker, Bishop and 

Zucker on Nevada Corporations and Limited Liability Companies, § 8.16,8-44 (2013). The 

Nevada Supreme Court in Kendall v. Henry Mountain Mines, Inc., stated that directorial conflicts 

are such that the challenged action of the directors "may be avoided by the corporation or its 

stockholders." 78 Nev. 408, 410-11, 374 P.2d 889,890 (1962) (quoting Marsters v. Umpqua 

Valley Oil, Co., 90 P. 151, 153 (Or. 1907). 

Here, as demonstrated above, the decisions of Kane and Adams to terminate Plaintiff as 

President and CEO ofRDI, after he failed to acquiesce to their threats to terminate him ifhe did 

not resolve trust and estate litigation with EC and MC on terms satisfactory to the two of them, 

was a decision with respect to which each of Kane and Adams lacked both disinterestedness and 

independence, and with respect to which each failed to act independently. Instead, each simply 
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1 picked sides in a family dispute and power struggle as it suited their own quasi-familial, financial 

2 and/or other personal interests, as well as the personal interests ofEC and Me. The decision to 

3 remove Plaintiff as President and CEO ofRDI raises exactly the sort of conflicts and conflicted 

4 decision-making and consequence that "may be avoided by the corporation or its stockholders." 

5 That is particularly so given the nature of the decision and the nature of subsequent actions 

6 taken to the same end. The subsequent actions include the effective dismantling ofRDI's Board 

7 of Directors, including by the creation of the EC Committee populated by EC and MC and the two 

8 individuals most personally and financially beholden to them, Kane and Adams, and the 

9 usurpation of the authority ofRDI's Board of Directors. That is even more true given the 

10 misleading public disclosure, both by commission and omission, caused by EC and those other 

11 defendants who act at her behest and direction. All of these actions constitute ongoing breaches of 

12 fiduciary duty, and each and all of them were undertaken to usurp management and control of the 

13 Company, in derogation of the interests of all RDI shareholders other than EC and MC. Those 

14 type of actions constitute or give rise to irreparable injury. See Vanderminden v. Vanderminden, 

15 226 A.D.2d 1037, 1041 (1996) (the "alleged harm, an opportunity for defendants to shift the 

16 balance of power and assume management and control of the company, and may properly be 

17 viewed as irreparable injury" (citing Matter of Brenner v. Hart Sys., 114 A.D.2d 363,366,493 

18 N.Y.S.2d 881,884 (1985))). 

19 Additionally, although not required to do so, given the nature of the claims made and the 

20 relief sought, plaintiff has produced evidence of damages. For example, Plaintiff has claimed, and 

21 defendant's own documents duplicative or redundant compensation including, for example, 

22 monies paid to third-party consultants (e.g., Edifice) and/or monies paid to MC arising from the 

23 fact that MC has no prior real estate development experience, which requires the third-party 

24 consultants be paid to do what is part of her jobPlaintiffhas claimed and publicly available 

25 information shows diminution in the price at which RDI stock traded in the days following 

26 disclosure of the termination of Plaintiff, as well as on the day of and following disclosure of the 

27 selection ofEC as permanent President and CEO. 

28 
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Plaintiffhas claimed and evidence shows corporate waste and monetary damages to RDI, 

including from the inflated salary paid to MC and including from what amounted to a gift of 

$200,000 to MC (supposedly for services she had provided over a number of preceding years, for 

which neither her father is the former CEO or the board saw fit to compensate her at the time) and 

a gift of$50,000 Adams (for serving as a director over the course of the preceding year, during 

which there was nothing memorializing his supposed special services as such, much less the 

notion that he should receive special compensation for those services which only were identified 

after the fact). 

F. The Interested Director Defendants' Argument that Plaintiff Is an Inadequate 
Derivative Plaintiff Is Mistaken and Has Been Rejected by the Court 
Previously 

The (understandably) next to last arguments made in the Motion attempt to revive the 

subjects of demand futility and adequacy of the derivative plaintiff, which the Interested Director 

Defendants twice argued and lost on motions to dismiss. (Motion at 23:18- and 28:16.) Nothing 

has changed, except that the intervening plaintiffs have given up and gone home, which is of no 

moment. These arguments remain unavailing as a matter of law. Plaintiff respectfully refers the 

Court to his prior briefing of these issues, and incorporates same herein. 

First, in response to the individual defendants' MSJs, Plaintiff has introduced substantial 

evidence of self-dealing entrenchment conduct by the Interested Director Defendants-who still 

comprise a majority of the Board of Directors. For example, the evidence shows that and how EC, 

MC, Kane, and Adams misused their positions as directors to enable EC and MC to exercise an 

option supposedly held by the estate to acquire 100,000 shares ofRDI Class B voting stock. The 

evidence also shows that and how EC, MC, Kane, Adams, and McEachern acted to force Storey to 

resign and to replace him and fill a new director slot with unqualified individuals effectively 

selected by and loyal to EC and Me. Of course, this is in addition to evidence regarding 

Plaintiffs' termination, which was merely the beginning of an ongoing course of entrenchment 

motivated conduct. 

Second, the Motion's demand argument is unavailing as a matter oflaw, for several 

reasons. First, a majority of the current Board of Directors are the same directors with respect to 
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whom the Court previously found demand excused. That the composition of the RDI Board has 

changed therefore is a "red herring." Under both these so-called Aronson and Rales tests, the 

entire board need not suffer from disqualifying interest or lack of independence to excuse demand, 

because where "there is not a majority of independent directors ... demand would be futile." 

Beam, 845 A.2d at 1046, n. 8; see, e.g., Beneville v. York, 769 A.2d 80,82 (Del. Ch. 2000) 

(demand is excused where the board is evenly divided). Second, demand futility is assessed based 

on "the circumstances at the commencement of a derivative suit." Aronson v. Lewis, 473 A.2d 

805,810 (Del. 1984). That is because, in assessing whether demand is excused, "[i]t is th[e] board 

[at the time the derivative complaint is filed], and no other, that has the right and responsibility to 

consider a demand by a shareholder to initiate a lawsuit to redress his grievances." In re infoUSA, 

Inc. Shareholders Litig., 953 A.2d at 985-986. The simple reason for this rule of law is that "that 

is the board on which demand would be made." In re VeriSign, Inc. Derivative Litig., 531 F. Supp 

2d. 1173, 1189 (N.D. cal. 2007); see also Kaufman v. Beal, 1983 WL 2029, at *9 (Del. Ch. Feb. 

25,1983) (stating it "offends notions offaimess to require a plaintiff in a stockholder's derivative 

suit to make a new demand every time the Board of Directors of the corporation has changed"). 8 

In sum, the renewed demand futility made in the Motion is unavailing. 

The Interested Director Defendants also revive their factually and legally deficient 

arguments that plaintiff is not an adequate derivative representative. (Motion at 23: 18- 28 :26.) 

The Court previously rejected these arguments based on the same claimed facts (except for the 

intervening plaintiffs dropping out) and same asserted law. 

The interested director defendants once again assert that "economic antagonisms" exist, 

that the remedy sought is personal and that other litigation is pending. The supposed "economic 

8 The two cases cited in the Motion are not to the contrary. Each reflect nothing other than that a poorly pleaded 
complaint will require substantially additional work on the part of the court, including to determine what claims are 
direct and what claims are derivative. Thus, in MCG Capital Corp. v. Maginn, No. CIV.A. 4521-CC, 2010 WL 
1782271 (Del. Ch. May 5,2010) an unpublished opinion, the court found that the complaint contained both direct and 
derivative claims, that it failed to specify which was which and that the parties disagreed, concluding "that after 
undergoing this exercise I appreciate more fully MacDuffs sentiment: 'confusion now hath made his 
masterpiece. '" Id. at *4. Similarly, Khanna v. McMinn, No. CIVA 20545-NC, 2006 WL 1388744 (Del. Ch. May 9, 
2006) was an action in which the plaintiffs made claims relating to six separate transactions (other than disclosure 
claims) allegedly resulting from breaches of fiduciary duty. Those six separate transactions did not all arise out of the 
same set of facts and circumstances or even make the same claims against the same directors in each instance. As 
such, the case is readily distinguishable. 
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antagonisms" once again incorrectly assume that Plaintiff is not a significant shareholder and that 

the value of his RDI stock, and the stock held by the trust of which his children are three of five 

beneficiaries, pales in comparison to the value of the compensation to which he would be entitled 

pursuant to his executive employment agreement. There is no dispute the facts are exactly to the 

contrary. That one remedy sought also relates to Plaintiff s position as CEO is a function of the 

fact that the termination of Plaintiff as CEO was the beginning of the ongoing course of 

entrenchment activities that are the subj ect of this lawsuit. That equitable relief is available 

because of the lack of disinterest and lack of independence on the part of Adams and Kane in 

threatening to terminate Plaintiff and then terminating him does not change the fact that such relief 

is available and here, appropriate. The claim that Plaintiff is using this derivative action to obtain a 

favorable settlement another action is nothing more than interested director defendants imputing to 

Plaintiff exactly the conduct in which they engaged, when they threatened Plaintiff with 

termination ifhe did not settle trust and estate disputes with EC and MC on in terms satisfactory to 

the two of them. They proffered no evidence the Plaintiff has reciprocated, because there is none. 

Likewise, the Interested Director Defendants simply word processed their factually erroneous 

arguments that Plaintiff invoked the name "Corleone" to refer in this action to defendant Kane 

when, as evidence shows, it was Kane himself who used that name. 

Literally the only portion of this argument that is new, or different, is the claim that 

Plaintiff has no shareholder support. Of course, the Court knows that claim is inaccurate, as 

reflected by the objections to the T2 Plaintiffs' request for court approval of their settlement, filed 

by the largest holders of both RDI class A and class B stock. 

In sum, the revived demand and adequacy of plaintive arguments remain unveiling, as a 

23 matter of law. 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

G. The Interested Director Defendants Rely on Inapposite Authority Concerning 
Employment Matters and Cases 

Finally, the Interested Director Defendants assert that "Plaintiffs reinstatement demand is 

unsupportable and untenable." (Motion at 20:27- 30:21.) In support of that conclusion, they cite in 

case after case in which the plaintiff sought relief personally as a terminated employee. This 
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1 simply is a different version of the Company's unsuccessful motion to compel arbitration which 

2 explicitly (as compared to here, implicitly) was predicated on the notion that because Plaintiff is a 

3 former executive, he has no rights as an RDI shareholder. That conclusion is erroneous as a matter 

4 of law, as the Court previously determined. 

5 Perhaps recognizing that Plaintiff, the court, or both will recognize their slightly disguised 

6 arguments as a rehash of what the Company previously argued unsuccessfully, the Interested 

7 Director Defendants also make a "long period of time" since termination argument and an 

8 "irreparable animosity between the parties" argument. The first of those arguments ignores the fact 

9 that, rather than hiring a CEO pursuant to a CEO search process, the defendants instead aborted 

10 that process and hired one of their own, Ee. The second argument assumes, incorrectly, that RDI 

11 is a private company and that the interests of public shareholders do not matter, both of which are 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

erroneous and show the cases cited to be inapposite. 

v. CONCLUSION 

For the forgoing reasons, Plaintiff respectfully submits that Individual Defendants' Motion 

for Summary Judgment (No.1) should be denied. 

DATED this 13th day of October, 2016. 

LEWIS ROCA ROTHGERBER CHRISTIE LLP 

lsi Mark G. Krum 
Mark G. Krum (Nevada Bar No. 10913) 
3993 Howard Hughes Pkwy, Suite 600 
Las Vegas, NV 89169-5958 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 
James J Cotter, Jr. 
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From: 
To: 
SEi!nt: 
Sub~ct: 

K,an~\ 

Jam(1s Cottt'f JR 
~!.{<> "":"'1'. '" ,r'\,~", 'j 0;: I:)~' u. U,':'::',LJ ...,. ~ ...... '-bJ.-, • v ~ 1:ij"S 

My only response is: s!1W!!1 \<;,'!)!l't S8Y Whi} it !s dlmct!}..1 at hut there i5 

no one nml,(, q'.lfl!ifled to tIe U)e CEO of It:i5company tt1.:lfl Yl)LL Ttwlis not to 
say yell don't have warts liPt,e the res1 of us, but there is rn.l one e;se to 
pinch hit So SiS\>, In t~1ere, if mt for youf mom's sake or lor you datI's. 
rnernory or )lowr s%ler5' saKe, do ~:t for your kkj$, solney can grow :WI' <Ill!:! 
n",'ll "'1"':1' *1"""'" ro-.."£<,·,,,d:rrt'I',, 'i,)" ,<,t''''~' ,""'00'" ,",,,1 f'f ,"", EN'" *')") "N"'ji'I'I' I~~~~ _ :r'l1,.~,' ~ ... h.'~~ ....... ¥ .... .K .. H~'-1·. ,I ~. :- ..... 0: ..... \..~ · ... ,.,'t~h~ •• (;~~ ... _ .... 1' _~;;~:!~~, __ ~ !:.'~ n •• t '\ .......... ~~:!l;;l.,-", ... ,~~, '~ 

"0'1 I" '1'1: "" "ffo""g' I'l<' ~I)<' ii ,'I .,. ') ~,U~ __ 'i.. ~r~ __ ~s "_S ~l, 

"----Oflgln~l ~,~*,;-s:Sage.--.­

Fronr ,),:une's Cott€~ JR 
S' "'I"" ""~"""""t1'" ,,« "'0"" '" '1 "'''4' ".~ ........ ..:: tl. l~jo;.~'J I)..~~-)l_?', .. ;,.~: :0:.-., woo ~-. ~;:J '!pJ,.,..s:-, .... 'I:~~ 

I offered Ellen m~ MaftIaret ;;1 ;:;ornpl'et€ time-{m1 s:tands!m, .. s{!:}P a~1 
liligaflofL, ,,5!t~p ,ilI!1 bo,an:lrt)(lm ,~nd Re~ldintl ttweilts ,md pm.h.lting, All ~ 

H5ked of thtlrrl was alat they BWfm to a form",1 mediatklfl r!{'c,,:S$ Hleir 
responso was tMt l hac!o :lCCtlpt tht'ir settlernem proposal or be, terminat~d 
as PH)sidHnt <ind CEO, I rHmai~n wmingh} pf(n;l'lud (In thE) bw.;i~, (st H (;(~mpl~<!t~ 
standstilL 

Frmn: Ka m~ [rm~mt); elkane@Sn(1,H ,IXH'fll 
<~"'rl" ~<, ,,,, ... "'\I, ," «"" r)'{' 20'1 ,,; ""1:" p. t 'U"~" -t.. ........ 'U'I"-.ta.:r. ;.lt~",nru U •. ~ ... ,...., lL,oo'_ ..... ' ~ t'S.' 

Ttl: J21JlIDS Cotter JR 
Subject A prop:osa! 

Ttle people wh{loount rvlotoor"Mar~r E.llen ,Margaret 6rRi !want ym~ to be CE.O 
::lr'tid ~'t)l'llh~~ cornpllnylor t!w m~xt 30 Yf.l<~fSUf ITml!.~, I>k,IN you Ila\/i.~ b~~m 
rJl'es.entedwith ~ propos:al- 1 haw not roa,d or he~rd <IE too p<Hiicl!!<u'S -
that you Ob"'~OLIS~'1' hnd nbj(ldjoflab~f), at I(~ast In some aspect~, Your and 
their "legal advisors", who don'! gj-;JS a luck about an) ... of YOll other tllan to 
see lhe~f bil.ls ,~re p~id, wm arQue bS\ck and forth with the h{lpe that m!}~e 
'I' '("1"11 "", I:'I':'I() "it','?"" ""1'1 "r"" «, :.~,~ " (: ~' .. '-.' .::I.'~_ .o: .. ~ l....~,l:! ,",~~, '(. ""';'.1:.', 

So, ,,,,.hy not c:tlt*}ider a 6~rrKlfl1n tin:w~-::mt standsHL If your ongina! 
r:wo'nnosHcahon hdds, the stock priw n~y Itw;41 inl,;HlaSe (jurin!:l this P€'fbd 
sot here i~s nothing to bse on your part. 
You tea Hl~ sh>ter))w~mt you n!)w Hnd {1i)jedlo!1:l.lble tiut wm '~~J'<m 10 try 
~~. as is for6--monltls. After U,al period, Ule Hlfee of you agree to SIT down 
UI'Kl QO O,,'l'.)f 8JI "our obieclitms with a taCit Bgreem~~nf t!wl if th!!1r"s x· .:1... "- ~I 

improw and you have arri\i'l£!d at .a way Uf I>vorking jngethN 1M three of you 
wHliIddress ;:111 of youfCOnC£!mS sn gond f;3~h; that too goa1 w'itlh-e <I 

s(!lki torl$He~m re~lkmMlip ~)! \""or~in9 tO~jelher ~ncl i:%H::t1 (Ii you U1en 1(1 
retufn to aril wnc.e ntr'a!e on your reS~iec!i\>t' res !)om;:ibimi:es wiH, you 
<l:5SUr1:l~rIoJ I",adership W1C.e mote, What's them to !os,e'!c All you n~sUy need to 
dt) is restore tru$l amj understanding and taKe bacK control Qf YOll! company, 
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from. 
Sent: 
To: 

n~r. Cotter .; tjlen.Couer<lt>f~.adingrdL<:mrp 

lt11~$d,lY, OdQl:ier 14, 1014 10:42 PM 

Subj~t; 

Guy Mams; rim $tQr~>'; w;;;iou!o@troygolJki.<:Ot'O 
COlpotate hil!n~'~ .. 'Otj.; Not~~:> 

sm, Guy & lim·· Thank you for your help ov~r dlll lart few we~k~, As pramiscd, 1>E!low ate $i)~ note~ Whkh rotket 

my thoughts. I ~m ;s\laH~b!e at l):t] ~ 192,1 with ;elllV qU~$fJQns: Qr cOJt)nwnls.. 

Thank you again, 

PROPOSAL fOR A RECONSTlTtm:O REAOING fNT£RNATIOI\IAt, INC, £)(£WilV£ COMMITT££ 

TlWff' prewmtly e:.Jns ;}f~ h~(oi:h,.,,~ CmumHw~ of th<~ f.\o;Jr}j S-uch C{lmmiW~l~ pr~;;.~nHy hi~'~; ilO ch;~t.;r HI' '~»Pf~~~~ 

dlJtiw;. In light of th." IM%illP, of .lil'm.~!>J, (:()tt~~r .. SI,.lti~ ~l,~m~d advisiibk for tmth th~: l>iH)!t· iind n~id·t!mn for \h~ 

b;t~(.uUytl ({)ffiiY1ittee w be feC(,ln-:;tjhH~d oilnd (l) to tilke iln <iCtiw role in S",Wtl€ tl~ $tr<jt~!Eic p1.m for tt>{' C~)mj)>>ny tlnd 

IIi to ()\letse(~i~ncll<pprOV(~fert~!if) k~~v C::ompMPt ~ctjons, It i$ anticipated tfk1t the L<'f:('\Jtivf.:- (;)mmittee would mel?t ~o 

k:;s ff<:'qu~ntly Hmo onw ;~ f:l!)flHl, on l:) sth!:'dukd bi$~b, $~till! rf~(~~l:ngs could be C<:i!k-d at any !im'~ by il:flY two 
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DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

JAMES J. COTTER, JR., individually 
derivatively on behalf of Reading 
International, Inc., 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

and) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

MARGARET COTTER, ELLEN COTTER, GUY ) 
ADAMS, EDWARD KANE, DOUGLAS McEACHERN,) 

No. A-15-719860-B 
Coordinated with: 

P-14-082942-E 

TIMOTHY STOREY, WILLIAM GOULD, and ) 
DOES 1 through 100, inclusive, ) 

Defendants. 
and 

) 
) 
) 

---------------------------------------) 

READING INTERNATIONAL, 
Nevada corporation, 

INC., a 

Nominal Defendant. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

---------------------------------------) 

DEPOSITION OF TIMOTHY STOREY, a defendant herein, 

noticed by LEWIS ROCA ROTHGERBER CHRISTIE LLP, at 

1453 Third Street Promenade, Santa Monica, 

California, at 9:28 a.m., on Friday, February 12, 

2016, before Teckla T. Hollins, CSR 13125. 
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TIMOTHY STOREY - 02/12/2016 

Page 57 
1 a communication from the Stomp producers with respect to 

2 issues of the nature that were raised in the letter to 

3 which you referred? 

4 MR. SEARCY: Occasion. Vague. 

5 THE WITNESS: My understanding was that there had 

6 been some correspondence in the preceding year, and that 

7 those issues had been dealt -- we thought those lssues 

8 had been dealt with. 

9 MR. KRUM: 

10 Q. How did you come to have that understanding? 

11 A. I don't recall a specific matter, but I think 

12 Margaret said that to me. 

13 Q. Do you recall that Bill Gould expressed some 

14 concern about the Stomp issue? 

15 

16 

17 

MR. SEARCY: Objection. Vague. 

MR. RHOW: Join. 

THE WITNESS: I don't specifically recall Bill 

18 Gould making a comment. On reflection, I do recollect 

19 that we did have a discussion amongst board members, but 

20 I think all of us were concerned about the matter. But 

21 I don't have a specific recollection. 

22 MR. KRUM: 

23 Q. Did you ever hear or were you ever told, or did 

24 you ever learn that Bill Gould had said, 1n words or 

25 substance, that the Stomp issue could or might cost RDI 

Litigation Services 800-330-1112 
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TIMOTHY STOREY - 02/12/2016 

Page 58 
1 $20 million or some other figure of a similar magnitude? 

2 MR. RHOW: Form of the question. 

3 MR. SEARCY: Join. It's vague. 

4 MR. KRUM: 

5 Q. You may answer. 

6 MR. RHOW: You can answer. 

7 THE WITNESS: I'm sorry. Can you repeat the 

8 question? 

9 MR. KRUM: I'll ask the court reporter to read it 

10 for me. 

11 (The record is read by the reporter.) 

12 THE WITNESS: Yes, I think people were of the Vlew 

13 that something like that had been said by Bill Gould. 

14 MR. KRUM: 

15 Q. And what do you recall either Mr. Gould or 

16 anybody else saying about such a statement? 

17 A. It was a general comment. I can remember that 

18 Mr. Kane was not very happy about the comment. 

19 Q. Why do you say that? What did he -- In other 

20 words--

21 A. Just a memory. 

22 Q. -- what did Mr. Kane say or do that prompts 

23 that memory? 

24 A. I don't know that he said anything, but I think 

25 this lS a subject of an exchange of e-mails between Ed 

Litigation Services 800-330-1112 
www.1itigationservices.com 

008 
001651



TIMOTHY STOREY - 02/12/2016 

Page 59 
1 Kane and Bill Gould, which Bill Gould took umbrage to, 

2 but I don't -- to be fair, I don't recollect that 

3 specifically. 

4 Q. Did you ever hear or were you ever told that 

5 anybody said or thought that the Stomp 1ssue was or 

6 might be relevant to Margaret's employment or possible 

7 employment with RDI? 

8 MR. SEARCY: Objection. Vague. 

9 THE WITNESS: Well, I think at this point in time, 

10 which from memory is in May, right, that all sorts of 

11 things were happening around the board table, and it was 

12 one of the issues that was live at the time. 

13 MR. KRUM: 

14 Q. When you say, "it was one of the issues that 

15 was live," does that mean that yes, there were 

16 discussions about whether -- or the possibility that the 

17 Stomp issue should be taken into consideration 1n 

18 assessing Margaret's employment situation? 

19 MR. SEARCY: Objection. Vague. 

20 THE WITNESS: I don't recollect that that was 

21 discussed. I think that, as I say here in paragraph 6 

22 of Exhibit 9, you know, it was as I said, it was an 

23 issue on the table. But as I see here, it was agreed 

24 that a review could wait for another day. Our efforts 

25 should be on trying to recover the money if Stomp moved. 
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Page 96 
1 got lost. 

2 MR. KRUM: I'll just repeat it. 

3 MR. FERRARIO: Yeah. 

4 MR. KRUM: 

5 Q. When did you first hear or learn or when were 

6 you first told that any of the non-Cotter directors had 

7 concluded that Jim Cotter should be removed as CEO? 

8 A. About a week before the meeting, I would say, 

9 mid- around about the 15th of May, I got a phone call 

10 from Doug McEachern, who informed me that there had been 

11 various discussions. It was intended to remove Jim at 

12 the board meeting. That he had been In discussions with 

13 Guy Adams, and that Guy Adams was -- my recollection, 

14 was leading the charge or was involved with it. 

15 I made some commentary on the procedure. And 

16 Mr. McEachern said he was aware of that, but that's 

17 where things stood. And the next day, I got a phone 

18 call -- the next day, I had a phone call from Guy Adams, 

19 who basically affirmed that. 

20 Q. And what did Mr. Adams say, ~n sum and 

21 substance, unless you actually remember the words? 

22 A. I think he said, in substance, that the time 

23 had come for the matter to be dealt with, that they had 

24 the legal advice that they could do that, that it 

25 shouldn't be an issue. My recollection is, it was a 

Litigation Services 800-330-1112 
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Page 97 
1 pretty short conversation. 

2 Q. And when you say "the matter" should be dealt 

3 with, what was "the matter"? 

4 A. The removal of the CEO. 

5 Q. Did he indicate from whom they had received 

6 legal advice? 

7 A. No. 

B Q. Did you ever subsequently learn who that was? 

9 MR. FERRARIO: Object that --

10 MR. KRUM: I'm not asking for the substance. I'm 

11 asking--

12 MR. FERRARIO: Assumes he got any legal advice. 

13 MR. KRUM: Okay. He testified that Adams said he 

14 had legal advice. So I'm not doing anything other than 

15 following on that testimony. 

16 Q. So did you ever hear or learn or did you ever 

17 otherwise develop an understanding as to whom Mr. Adams 

1B was referring when he talked about legal advice? 

19 A. I don't recollect. 

20 Q. Was it Akin Gump? 

21 A. I don't know. 

22 Q. It's just an appropriate follow-up question. 

23 MR. RHOW: The reason I have a problem with the 

24 question, sometimes when you say, "Did you ever 

25 subsequently learn," first, I don't know if what his --
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1 what the relevance is of his current knowledge, but I 

2 understand why you're asking. 

3 MR. KRUM: I just want to know who it was. 

4 MR. RHOW: My other concern in general is, if he's 

5 learning from me or other sources, that's not 

6 necessarily something I can object to, since I'm not 

7 sure if he currently knows. But anyway, that question 

8 lS fine. 

9 MR. KRUM: Well, I assume you prepared him, but let 

10 me make it clear. 

11 Q. Mr. Storey, when I ask questions that in any 

12 respect call for anything touching on legal advice, I'm 

13 not asking you to disclose the substance of any legal 

14 advice, whether it was provided to you as a director of 

15 the company by in-house or outside counsel representing 

16 the company, whether it was provided to you by your own 

17 counsel. If the question calls for information of that 

18 type, all I want to hear is the identity of the lawyer 

19 and the subject matter of the advice, not the substance. 

20 A. Thank you. 

21 Q. So the call with Adams was -- when in time was 

22 it relative to the -- to your receipt of the notice from 

23 Ellen Cotter of the special meeting? 

24 A. From recollection, prior to. 

25 Q. And the call from Adams was the day after you 
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1 spoke to McEachern; correct? 

2 A. Correct. 

3 Q. And in the McEachern call, he told you that he, 

4 Adams, and Kane had determined to vote to remove Jim 

5 Cotter, Jr. as CEO; is that correct? 

6 MR. SEARCY: Objection. Vague. 

7 THE WITNESS: For some reason, my recollection of 

8 the conversation 1S that it was gOlng to be -- that the 

9 time had come to remove the CEO, or to that effect. 

10 MR. KRUM: 

11 Q. Well, when you hung up from the call with 

12 Mr. McEachern that you just described, did you 

13 understand that he had communicated to you that he had 

14 decided to vote to remove Jim Cotter, Jr. as CEO? 

15 A. Yes. 

16 Q. The next day when you hung up the call from 

17 Mr. Adams, did you understand that Mr. Adams had told 

18 you that he also had decided to vote to remove Jim 

19 Cotter, Jr. as CEO? 

20 MR. SEARCY: Objection. Lacks foundation. 

21 THE WITNESS: Yes. 

22 MR. KRUM: Okay. 

23 Q. And as best you can recall, what were the words 

24 Mr. Adams used that led you to that conclusion? 

25 A. I don't recollect specific words. 
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1 spoke to McEachern; correct? 

2 A. Correct. 

3 Q. And in the McEachern call, he told you that he, 

4 Adams, and Kane had determined to vote to remove Jim 

5 Cotter, Jr. as CEO; is that correct? 

6 MR. SEARCY: Objection. Vague. 

7 THE WITNESS: For some reason, my recollection of 

8 the conversation lS that it was going to be -- that the 

9 time had come to remove the CEO, or to that effect. 

10 MR. KRUM: 

11 Q. Well, when you hung up from the call with 

12 Mr. McEachern that you just described, did you 

13 understand that he had communicated to you that he had 

14 decided to vote to remove Jim Cotter, Jr. as CEO? 

15 A. Yes. 

16 Q. The next day when you hung up the call from 

17 Mr. Adams, did you understand that Mr. Adams had told 

18 you that he also had decided to vote to remove Jim 

19 Cotter, Jr. as CEO? 

20 MR. SEARCY: Objection. Lacks foundation. 

21 THE WITNESS: Yes. 

22 MR. KRUM: Okay. 

23 Q. And as best you can recall, what were the words 

24 Mr. Adams used that led you to that conclusion? 

25 A. I don't recollect specific words. 
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1 our somebody else told you that Mr. Kane had decided to 

2 vote to remove Jim Cotter, Jr. as president and CEO? 

3 MR. SEARCY: Objection. Vague. 

4 THE WITNESS: You'll have to repeat the question. 

5 MR. KRUM: Sure. 

6 Q. When did you first learn or were you first told 

7 that Ed Kane had decided to vote to remove Jim 

8 Cotter, Jr. as president and CEO? 

9 A. I don't recollect. 

10 Q. Okay. 

11 A. Obviously, prlor to those discussions. 

12 Q. Right. Now, during your call with 

13 Mr. McEachern about what you've testified already, what 

14 did you say to him? 

15 A. I don't recollect that I said much. I think I 

16 talked about adopted process, and looking at the matter 

17 properly as a board. As I said earlier, my recollection 

18 is that Mr. McEachern said "yes," he understood that 

19 position. 

20 I didn't see it as my position, at that point or at 

21 any point, to be an advocate one way or another. My 

22 concern was around adopting a robust procedure to go 

23 through that process. 

24 Q. Did you say to Mr. McEachern, ~n words or 

25 substance, that there had not been to that point in time 
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1 with respect to trust and estate matters that was 

2 reported on or about 6:00 o'clock in the even1ng on 

3 May 29th, had not come to fruition? 

4 A. Yes, I had understood that it didn't come to 

5 fruition. 

6 Q. How did you learn that or what were you told? 

7 A. I don't recollect. 

8 Q. Do you recall that a board meeting was convened 

9 on or about June 12? 

10 A. I do. 

11 Q. That was a Friday; correct? 

12 A. Was it telephonic or in person? 

13 Q. I believe it was 1n person. 

14 Do you recall Okay. I believe it was 

15 telephonic. I misspoke. You're correct. 

16 A. I think. 

17 Q. Thank you. 

18 And do you recall that 

19 A. Telephonic for me, I think. I don't know about 

20 anybody else. 

21 Q. Understood. Thank you for the clarification. 

22 Do you recall that there was a vote to terminate 

23 Jim Cotter, Jr. as president and CEO? 

24 A. I do. 

25 Q. And what was the outcome of that? 
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A. I think that two voted against it, and the 

2 others -- Two voted against; is that right? I have to 

3 look at the record, but certainly I voted against. 

4 Q. Is it your best recollection that Mr. Gould 

5 also voted against? 

6 A. Yes. I was just thinking about Mr. Cotter. 

7 Perhaps it was three against. 

8 Q. And the votes for termination were by 

9 Messrs. Kane, Adams and McEachern, and by Ellen and 

10 Margaret Cotter; correct? 

11 A. Correct. 

12 Actually, on reflection, perhaps Mr. Cotter 

13 abstained and didn't vote because he was interested. I 

14 don't recollect. 

15 Q. Or at least he acknowledged that he was 

16 interested? 

17 A. Yes. 

18 Q. Do you recall learning at some point that on or 

19 about June 15th, Ellen Cotter had sent a letter to J~ 

20 Cotter, Jr. asserting that, pursuant to his executive 

21 employment agreement, he was required to res~gn as a 

22 director upon termination as an officer? 

23 A. Yes, I do. 

24 Q. When did you first learn that? 

25 A. I think at or shortly after the termination 
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1 I, Teck1a T. Hollins, CSR 13125, do hereby declare: 

2 That, prior to being examined, the witness named in 
the foregoing deposition was by me duly sworn pursuant 

3 to Section 30 (f) (1) of the Federal Rules of Civil 
Procedure and the deposition is a true record of the 

4 testimony given by the witness. 

5 That said deposition was taken down by me in 
shorthand at the time and place therein named and 

6 thereafter reduced to text under my direction. 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

That the witness was requested to review the 
transcript and make any changes to the 
transcript as a result of that review 
pursuant to Section 30(e) of the Federal 
Rules of Civil Procedure. 

No changes have been provided by the witness 
during the period allowed. 

The changes made by the witness are appended 
to the transcript. 

No request was made that the transcript be 
reviewed pursuant to Section 30(e) of the 
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. 

I further declare that I have no interest in the 
event of the action. 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws 
17 of the United States of America that the foregoing is 

true and correct. 
18 

WITNESS my hand this 3rd day of 
19 • 

20 

21 
Teckla T. Hollins, CSR 13125 

22 

23 

24 

25 
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Confidential 

TIMS notes on CEO/management at Reading 

21 May 2015 

DRAFT 

You appointed me as a special committee (of one for the time being) to assist the CEO to progress 

the business, particularly in his dealings with two executives, Margaret and Ellen. I took particular 

care not to stray into the realm of management - I made suggestions as to possible ways forward 

etc - and gave him the benefit of my experience around how a business is usually run. In many 

respects, this is about getting the processes right - for example, adopting business plans, budgets, 

meeting schedules and procedures and dealing with legacy issues. With a change from a strong 

entrepreneurial CEO and as a public company, the company needs to adopt proper management 

structures and procedures - a very considerable evolution for the company to make. 

The CEO can provide detail direct regarding his progress and achievements - if you would like me to 

comment further in this particular then I can do so. 

In my view, none of the steps he proposes to take or has in fact taken are unusual or untoward. The 

CEO operates to an action plan; I don't think any of the steps there - or the timelines - are out of 

line. 

Other than from Margaret or Ellen, except as noted I haven't heard of any material negativity from 

any other executive as to the CEOs requirements. I have heard very positive support from Wayne 

Smith and Matthew Bourke as to the CEOs performance. Dev seems to be happy with the direction 

Jim is taking, as Bill Ellis does. Andrzej and Craig try to sit in the middle but don't appear to criticise 

his operational priorities - I think they would say he does have difficulties sometimes in how he goes 

about things - his style - but all are trying to help modify this. Bob Smerling appears critical- I 

haven't really spoken with him, but I have heard so from a number of sources. Given his interests, I 

largely dismiss his comments for obvious reasons. 

In Margaret and Ellen, the CEO has had to deal with entrenched executives who have been resistant 

to change. A CEO dealing with entrenched executives reluctant to change is difficult enough; to deal 

with such executives as family members even more difficult; add to that the litigation and the matter 

is even more difficult. 

Nevertheless, progress has been made in a number of respects. The CEO and Ellen have agreed a 

business plan for the division, and an agreed list of action items to be undertaken. A mechanism to 

resolve the various concerns around the "metrics" has been agreed - I comment further below. 

Margaret is still to provide a business plan; Jim has articulated to Margaret some detail as to how he 

expects the NY development projects to be advanced through a committee structure including her, 

the new RE director and other executives. 

In undertaking my task, as previously advised, my hope was that sufficient progress could be made 

around plans and the like so that executives would be clearly tasked and could then be allowed to 

get on and implement their agreed plans, subject to the usual type of review from "corporate 
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office". As you know, this the usual situation for any company. I think we could be well on the way 

to achieving this position. 

I also thought it would be beneficial to have processes in place to allow for a proper review of the 

performance of business units. To that end, as said arrangements are agreed between the CEO and 

Ellen this would be done over the balance of this year, with Dev and his team assisting in an 

objective analysis of the metrics - both and internally and against external benchmarks. Matters 

are not as advanced in discussions with Margaret so these issues around process haven't been raised 

with her. One issue that may need review is the Stomp situation and how it arose and has been 

handled. There are clearly issues to be looked at, but the CEO has agreed this is a matter that can be 

looked at in the fullness of time; the more important issue is to see if there is a solution for the 

company. 

Another impediment has been the disunity amongst various executive staff (other than between the 

CEO and Ellen and Margaret). Some of this arises from legacy issues - things left over from the Snr 

regime around income and retirement benefits expectations. The CEO has largely settled these 

arrangements as previously advised - although some implementation is outstanding (somewhat 

complicated by the on-going tensions with Ellen and Margaret and board members). This 

disharmony is also fostered by board members intervening and giving time and credence to 

employees' comments. Again, such matters are an issue for the CEO - not for individual directors. 

As we all acknowledge, the CEO is less that experienced and can need assistance at times with 

interpersonal skills - particularly in relation to dealings with Ellen and Margaret. Since my 

involvement with the committee process I think the CEO has made considerable effort to modify his 

behaviour - of course, it is still not the best - but I suspect that would be very difficult to achieve 

given the circumstances and the entrenched views between all three of them. 

Finally I observe that the CEO has offered to finalise employment contracts with Ellen and Margaret. 

The terms are based I understand on a company standard. He has delayed in distributing them over 

quite some time - but I understand that Margaret's has been distributed this week. He has 

reservations in these steps (see note to Margaret around his concerns with her employment), but 

has said he will look to proceed - but he does point out he wants board involvement and comment 

before proceeding. 

One issue that comes up is around the CEO and "anger management" issues. We know there is 

some foundation to this, but I think the principal concerns were connected to Linda and Debbie­

both of which are no longer in the office. There clearly remains an issue with/for Ellen. I am not 

aware of any recent issues in this regard. I do think some ongoing steps could be taken but as we 

have all discussed and agreed this is a sensitive matter. 

If you ask me whether Jim is doing a good job as CEO I would note he is less than fully experienced 

and has some "inter personal" skills issues (particularly when dealing with his sisters Ellen and 

Margaret) but that he is needing to implement a change culture and that can be very difficult at the 

best of times. In my observation, he is taking reasonable and usual steps in his approach. Frankly, 

more experienced CEOs might well have taken more aggressive and timely steps but as I say Jim has 

constraints in this regard. 

If the issue is the culture in the company and the disharmony particularly arising from the issues 

between the CEO and two executives (Margaret and Ellen) then the resolution need not necessarily 

be the removal of the CEO - alternatively - and perhaps more usually - it could be the removal of the 
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other executives - or all of them. If a change is to be made, then we need to weigh which approach 

is in the best interests of the company. 
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Message 

From: 

Sent: 

To: 

Subject: 

Flag: 

Tim Storey [tim.storey@prolex.co.nzJ 

5/20/20154:45:47 AM 

'William David Gould' [wgould@troygould.comj 

FW: Thursday board meeting 

Follow up 

Can we discuss ... a draft response below 

Ed - good to hear directly from you. 

I am not sure how to respond to this. 

But in any event I don't understand the impol"t of your comments here .. they suggest Margaret and Ellen's view is 

determinative of the issues. In my analysis, the view of the shareholder/s is immaterial to the matl:ers before the 

board. Each director and the board needs to act in the best interests of the company etc - as I have said .. a different 

concept to your apparent view that we should act as ditected by a shareholder or as what we think a shareholder might 

desire (and again as previously noted, noting even the issue of who the shareholder is, is yet to be clarified 1) 

My concern is we need to act appropriately from a procedural point of view - see my earlier email. If we act 

inappropriately, that is not cured by any steps I may be able to take subsequently as you suggest. Just to do as the Chair 

may ask is not an appropriate response. 

And for the record, I am only assuming the matter before us is a resolution to immediately remove the CEO - that isn't 

clear from the agenda, or any direct comment made to me by any party. 

Tim Storey 
Director 

Prolex Advisory 

PO Box 2974 Shortland street, Auckland 
Phone+64(0)21633-089 

From: Kane [mailto:elkane@san.rr.com] 

Sent: Wednesday, 20 May 2015 3:40 p.m. 

To: Tim Storey 
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Cc: Adams Guy; Cotter Ellen; Cotter Margaret; Cotter Jr. James; McEachern Doug (US - Retired); Gould Bill 

Subject: Re: Thursday board meeting 

Tim, I respect your concerns. However, we have heard from Nevada counsel via their memos and I assume that 

appropriate counsel will be present at the Board meeting called by the Chairperson. We owe her the duty and respect to 

attend the meeting she has called for the purposes set out in her agenda. I see no purpose in holding a per-meeting to 

discuss what is already on her agenda. If, after the meeting, you feel another so-called "independent committee" 

meeting is advisable you can suggest this at the end of the meeting called by Ellen. From my perspective a pre meeting 

can only exacerbate the tensions now felt by all and can only rehash what will be discussed at the Chairperson's 

meeting. You well know what we will be discussing/debating so let's move forward as requested by the Chairperson. We 

owe her that. 

From: TimS~Qri;:Y 
Sent: Tuesday, May 19, 2015 12:29 PM 
To: Kane; Gould Bill 
Cc: Adams Guy; Cotter Ellen; Cotter fvlaigaret ; Cotter JL James; HcEachern Doug (US - Retired) 

Subject: RE: Thursday board meeting 

My apologies for my delay in response -I have been travelling. (And my apologies in advance for a lengthy comment!) 

I am surprised by the tone and possible implications of this email. I think we need to take time to carefully consider the 

legal position and our clear duties as directors. 

My understanding was that this Thursday we were to have a meeting of the independent directors to hear from the CEO 

as to progress, and also from each of the Cotters separately so they can express their views to us (I am not sure in what 

capacity/on what basis this is being done, but I have no objection to hearing from people). I was also to make some 

comments, as requested when I was appointed to the independent committee (and following on from my prior 

comments and my brief emails reporting progress). All this to keep the independent board members informed as to the 

current position, and perhaps/likely in preparation for a further review of the position. 

But I have heard from Bill Gould that it may be that someone will propose a resolution on Thursday morning that the 

CEO be removed from office with immediate effect. I have just seen an agenda for the meeting - while preparing this 

note at about 1130 am - and that simply has an agenda item captioned "Status of CEO and President")' otherwise I have 

not heard directly from anyone in this regard. 

With respect, I think as directors we need to ensure we are acting in an appropriate manner, following an appropriate 

path. I have no doubt whatever way all this turns out litigation will likely ensure so we should be very concerned about 

the manner in which we act. 

As directors, we have to act properly - with deliberation and reason - we can't act arbitrarily, capriciously etc. You will 

recall we also resolved/reconfirmed some months ago that we would all act in accord with best governance 

principles. All this imposes duties on us as directors; as directors we can't just do what a shareholder asks - or do what 

we think a shareholder might want (not to mention that at the moment there remains significant uncertainty as to the 

(ultimate) identity of some shareholders). 

If we are to look at the position of the CEO and whether he should be removed, then we should do so properly - with 

proper notice, having determined the basis on which we are conducting this review (presumably based on his 

performance to date as CEO) and following due enquiry. We should also take into account the implications for the 

company - and that 1 think would include a clear view as to an alternative way forward. 

We also need to look at the proper way to conduct this review. My recollection is that we have previously resolved that 

the removal of any Cotter needs to be approved by a majority of the independent directors, so presumably this may not 

be a full board issue. 

I think the issue may be further complicated as when we talked to the CEO in April (I think) we advised the CEO we all 
agreed that the committee approach was short term and said that we would look to review his progress as CEO in June 

and at which point we would evaluate how he and the company were performing, and what other steps may need to be 

taken. 
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In my view, we need to get our procedure correct. This is a separate issue to the merits of a decision before us. We 

should be clear between us as to the 

This is a matter of urgency; I for one don't want to take part in a kangaroo court (or what might appear to be a kangaroo 

court). 

To be clear, my concern here is we act with appropriate procedure. The merits of the matter (whether the CEO should 

be removed, I assume) are a separate issue to be considered with care - and one concluded following an appropriate 

procedure. 

Of course, I am not a US native so perhaps some of my views may be off key - perhaps Bill Gould as an experienced US 

corporate and board adviser can comment! 

Happy to discuss. 

Tim Storey 

Director 

Prole-x Advisory 

PO Box 2974 Shortland street, Auckland 

Phone +64(0)21 633-089 

From: Kane [mailto:eikane@sanJr.com] 

Sent: Tuesday, 19 May 2015 7:24 a.m. 

To: Gould Bill 

Cc: Adams Guy; Cotter Ellen; Cotter Margaret; Cotter Jr. James; McEachern Doug (US - Retired); Tim Storey 

Subject: Thursday board meeting 

As a follow-up to yesterday's phone conversation, I strongly suggest that the "independent" committee not meet before 

the 11:00 AM Board meeting scheduled by the Chairperson. We are all fully aware of the topics to be discussed and 

there is nothing to be gained by hashing them over before the Board meeting and then again at the Board meeting. 

Some of the items are obviously contentious and nothing can be gained by double exposure. We are all adults -I 

assume - so let's get right to the major issues. If, after the formal Board meeting, you feel we should have a meeting of 

the "independents" I will not be opposed to staying and discussing topics of your choosing. 
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~I!!Ai)iNG 
INTERNATIONAL 

Minutes of the 
Meeting of the Board of Directors 

of 
Reading International, Inc. 

May 21,2015 

A duly noticed meeting of the Board of Directors (the "Board") of Reading International, Inc. 
(the "Company") was held in the Company's offices in Los Angeles on May 21, 2015 at 
approximately 11:15 a.m. (Los Angeles time). 

Present were Ellen M. Cotter, Chairperson of the Board, and Board members Margaret Cotter, 
Vice Chairperson, James J. Cotter, Jr., William D. Gould, Edward L. Kane, Doug McEachern, Tim 
Storey and Guy Adams. 

In attendance at the invitation of the directors were William D. Ellis, Company Secretary and 
General Counsel, and Craig Tompkins. Also in attendance at the request of the Chairperson 
were Company counsel, Gary McLaughlin and Frank Reddick, of Akin Gump Strauss Hauer & 
Feld, LLP. On behalf of James J. Cotter, Jr., Mark Krum of Lewis Roca Rothgerber LLP was also 
present. 

In advance of the meeting, the Chairperson had distributed to each of the directors a notice of 
the meeting and an agenda. In addition, Neal Brockmeyer, counsel for the independent 
directors, had reported to each of the independent directors as to a telephone conversation he 
had on May 20, 2015 with Mr. Krum, who had informed Mr. Brockmeyer that if the Board took 
action at its meeting on May 21, 2015 to terminate Mr. James Cotter's employment with the 
Company, he would file a lawsuit in Nevada court against the directors personally based on an 
alleged breach of fiduciary duty of care and duty of loyalty. Further, on May 19, 2015, Mr. 
James Cotter had requested the Chairperson to place on the agenda of this meeting the 
following matters: (x) a report by him on a Review ofthe Company's Operations and the search 
for a Director of Real Estate, (y) employment agreements for Ms. Ellen Cotter and Ms. Margaret 
Cotter and (z) his request that the Company repurchase 100,000 shares of Class A non-voting 
stock owned by him. 

Call to Order 

Ms. Ellen Cotter, Chairperson of the Board, called the meeting to order at approximately 11:15 
a.m. (Los Angeles time) and did a roll call of the attendees. Ms. Ellen Cotter acted as recording 
secretary for the meeting and took these minutes. 
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Reading International, Inc. 
Minutes Board of Directors Meeting 
May 21, 2015 
Page 2 

Presence of Attorneys 

Prior to moving to the agenda, the Board took up the question of whether counsel from Lewis 
Roca Rothgerber and Akin Gump Strauss Hauer & Feld should participate in the meeting. The 
Chairperson informed the board that non-board members are entitled to attend the meeting 

only at the invitation of the Board and that Mr. Krum did not represent the Company and had 
indicated an intention to file a lawsuit on behalf of Mr. James Cotter against each of the other 
directors. Following discussion, Mr. Adams made a motion, seconded by Mr. Kane, that Mr. 
Krum be requested to leave the meeting. Upon a vote of 7-1, with Mr. Cotter voting against, 

the motion was approved. 

The Board then discussed whether it was appropriate for Messrs. Reddick and McLaughlin to be 
present at the Meeting. The Chairperson stated that Akin Gump Strauss Hauer & Feld had been 
engaged by the Company on employment and certain other matters for over ten years and 

Messrs. Reddick and McLaughlin were present at her request. Following discussion, Mr. 
McEachern made a motion, seconded by Mr. Kane, to invite Messrs. Reddick and McLaughlin to 
attend the meeting. Bya vote of 5-3, with Messrs. Cotter, Storey and Gould voting against, the 
motion was adopted. 

Mr. Krum then addressed the Board stating that, in his opinion, the Board had not engaged in 

an adequate process in order to make a determination to terminate Mr. Cotter as Chief 
i-'-'-'-'-'-'-'-'-'-'-~ 
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Review of Operations 

Ms. Ellen Cotter then stated that she would like take up the last item on the agenda, Mr. 
Cotter's report on operations, out of order as the first order of business. Mr. Cotter stated that 
he was not prepared to make a presentation on the Company's operations but instead would 

like to address the Board on his performance as Chief Executive Officer and the reasons he 
believed it appropriate that he continue in that role. Mr. Cotter then proceeded to speak to the 
Board at length about his position of President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company. He 
told the Board that he firmly believed that his father, James J. Cotter, Sr., the Company's former 

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, had intended for him to have this role and his 
continuation as Chief Executive Officer would be consistent with his father's wishes. He also 

took issue with the independence of Mr. Kane and Mr. Adams and repeated the statements his 
counsel had addressed to the Board urging that they be disqualified from voting with respect to 
any action to terminate him as Chief Executive Officer. 
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The Board then proceeded to discuss at length the performance of Mr. Cotter as Chief 
Executive Officer and President of the Company since he was appointed in August 7, 2014. 

For over the next two hours the Board discussed Mr. James Cotter's performance as Chief 

Executive Officer. Messrs. Adams and Kane and Madams Ellen Cotter and Margaret Cotter each 
stated that it would be in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders that the Board 
conduct a search for a qualified chief executive officer and that Mr. Cotter be relieved of his 
positions as Chief Executive Officer and President of the Corporation and reviewed the reasons 
underlying this assessment. As part of that discussion, it was noted that the independent 
directors had met numerous times to discuss this matter and Mr. Cotter's progress in this role. 
Messrs. Adams and Kane and Madams Ellen Cotter and Margaret Cotter reviewed their 
assessment of deficiencies that they observed in Mr. Cotter's leadership, understanding of the 
Company's business, temperament, managerial skills, decision-making and other attributes in 
the role of Chief Executive Officer. Messrs. Gould and Storey expressed their views on Mr. 
Cotter's performance and their conclusion that a decision to make a change in this position 

would not be in the best interests of the Company at this time. 

At approximately 2:00 p.m. (Los Angeles time), Messrs. Gould, Kane, McEachern, Storey and 
Adams suggested that they continue the discussion in executive session and Ms. Ellen Cotter, 
Ms. Margaret Cotter, and Messrs. James Cotter, Ellis, Tom ns, McLaughlin and Reddick left 

the meeting. 

Independent Directors Session 

Messrs. Gould, Kane, McEachern, Storey and Adams continued in executive session for the next 
two hours during which time they continued their review of Mr. James Cotter's performance 
and the course of action that would be in the best interests of the Company. 
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Resumption of the Meeting with the Full Board 

At approximately 4:00 p.m. (Los Angeles time), Ms. Ellen Cotter, Ms. Margaret Cotter, and Mr. 
James Cotter rejoined the meeting. 

After much further discussion amongst Board members, Mr. Gould suggested that Mr. Cotter 
continue as President of the Company and the Board commence a search for a new Chief 
Executive Officer. Mr. Cotter twice refused to continue in the role of President under a new 
Chief Executive Officer. 

After much further discussion, the Board determined to take no action at this meeting with 
respect to Mr. Cotter's position as Chief Executive Officer and President of the Company and 
that the Board would reconvene the meeting on May 29, 2015 to continue its deliberations. In 
the interim, the Directors would be provided the opportunity to reflect on the discussion during 
the meeting and Mr. Cotter indicated that he would give further consideration to continuing in 
the role of President of the Company under the leadership of a new Chief Executive Officer. At 
the request of the Board, Mr. Cotter agreed to maintain during the upcoming week a IIi0w 
profile," to not take any significant corporate action and take some time out of the office. 

Independent Director Compensation 

The Board then discussed the inordinate amount of director time that had been spent 
addressing the management and personnel issues at the Company. 

A motion was made by Mr. McEachern and seconded by Mr. Storey that each of the directors 
who are not employed by the Company or members of the Cotter family, receive a one-time 
bonus of $25,000 in recognition of the significant additional time required addressing these 
matters. Upon motion du seconded and unanimously adopted, the Board approved 
such one-time bonus. 

Ms. Ellen Cotter then adjourned the Meeting at approximately 5:00 p.m., to be reconvened on 
May 29, 2015 at 10:00 a.m. (Los Angeles time) at the Company's Los Angeles offices. 

Ellen M. Cotter, Chairperson, Recording Secretary 
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1 Q These were the -- this was the revised 

2 papers that followed the prior board meeting 

3 at, which, on a telephone call -- strike that. 

4 I don't need to talk to you about that. 

5 I'll just show you something and ask you a 

6 question. 

7 MR. KRUM: I'll ask the court reporter to 

8 mark as Exhibit 321, a document bearing 

9 Production Nos. JCOTTER2362 through '68. 

10 For the purposes of your examination, all 

11 but the first page are what I believe 

12 Ms. Cotter previously described as the first 

13 such document. 

14 Q And for your benefit, Ms. Cotter, all I 

15 intend to do with this is to make sure that I 

16 have shown you both documents so that you've 

17 identified them. 

18 So, go ahead. 

19 (Deposition Exhibit 322, E-mail dated May 

20 27, 2015 from Harry Susman to Adam Streisand 

21 with Attachment, marked for identification as 

22 of this date.) 

23 Q Ms. Cotter, do you recogn~ze Exhibit 322? 

24 A Yes. 

25 Q Is this the document that you and Ellen 
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1 and Jim Cotter, Jr. discussed when the three of 

2 you met on Friday, the 29th of May, between a 

3 supposed board meeting that convened late 

4 morning, early afternoon, and supposed 

5 reconvened telephonic board meeting about 

6 6:00 p.m. that night? 

7 A This document reflects the terms that we 

8 discussed and agreed to on -- I can't remember 

9 that date, Friday. 

10 Q Friday the 29th of May before the Memorial 

11 Day weekend; 1S that it? 

12 A No. 

13 Q It was a Friday; you remember that? 

14 A Yes, but this document is from May 27th. 

15 So it was prior to May 27th. 

16 Q Well, do you recall that the initial board 

17 meeting at which the subject of the termination 

18 of Jim Cotter, Jr. was raised, occurred on or 

19 about May 21? 

20 A The first board meeting? 

21 Q Right. 

22 A Yes. 

23 Q And that you recall that the second board 

24 meeting, or supposed board meeting, I should 

25 say, occurred on a Friday and convened, 
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1 supposedly and adjourned, and then reconvened 

2 telephonically? 

3 A The same day. 

4 Q The same day, right. 

5 A Yeah. 

6 Q And my question to you: Is Exhibit 322 

7 the document to which -- I think you've just 

8 said this, but let me ask the question. 

9 Is Exhibit 322 the document to which you 

10 understood you and Ellen and Jim had agreed? 

11 A Yes, this document, Exhibit 322, replaced 

12 the terms that the three of us collectively 

13 decided. 

14 Q Okay. And this was what was purported 

15 to -- the other members of RDI board of 

16 directors on the telephone call that convened 

17 at or about 6:00 O'clock that Friday evening; 

18 1S that right? 

19 A That's correct. 

20 Q All I'm trying to do 1S get the documents 

21 identified correctly. 

22 MR. KRUM: Okay. So we're at 323 now? 

23 THE COURT REPORTER: Yes. 

24 MR. KRUM: I'll ask the court reporter to 

25 mark as 323 a document that purports to be a 
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1 C E R T I F I CAT E 

2 STATE OF NEW YORK 

3 :ss 

4 COUNTY OF NEW YORK ) 

5 

6 I, MICHELLE COX, a Notary Public within 

7 and for the State of New York, do hereby 

8 certify: 

9 That MARGARET COTTER, the witness whose 

10 deposition is hereinbefore set forth, was duly 

11 sworn by me and that such deposition lS a true 

12 record of the testimony given by the witness. 

13 I further certify that I am not related to 

14 any of the parties to this action by blood or 

15 marrlage, and that I am In no way interested in 

16 the outcome of this matter. 

17 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my 

18 hand this 27th day of June 2016. 

19 ! 
J 

20 

21 MIC~ELLE COX, C~ 
22 

23 

24 

25 
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Page 271 
1 A. That's correct. 

2 Q. Okay. At any point ~n time in the time 

3 frame of January 1st, 2015, through June 12, 2015, 

4 was it your desire to sign an agreement with Edifice 

5 before someone was hired for the position of 

6 director of real estate at ROl? 

7 A. I can't answer that question. I don't 

8 recall. 

9 Q. At any point in that time frame did it 

10 ever occur to you that if a person was hired for the 

11 position of director of real estate at ROl, they 

12 would by virtue of having that position weigh ~n on 

13 whether to s~gn a contract with Edifice? 

14 A. I don't know if I was thinking about 

15 that. 

16 Q. Okay. What's your best recollection as 

17 to why you said what you said in this May 28 email 

18 that before hiring anyone, you think we need to get 

19 Edifice's agreement signed? 

20 A. I believe I testified I don't recall 

21 what I was thinking when I wrote this. 

22 Q. Okay. Let's look at the first page of 

23 Exhibit 156. 

24 You see at the bottom of the first page 

25 there's an email response from your brother to your 
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1 email that we just discussed. 
Page 272 

In fact, this is one 

2 at which we've looked previously. 

3 A. Right. Right. 

4 Q. Okay. So then let's go to your email 

5 reply ~n the middle of the first page of 

6 Exhibit 156. It's the one dated June 4, 2015, time 

7 stamped 11:11 A.M. It reads as follows, quote, 

8 "Frankly, I would be more concerned 

9 about yourself and getting your 

10 position squared away than dealing 

11 with another employee. I think 

12 your priorities are a little 

13 skewed. What is the status of the 

14 paperwork we sent to you 

15 yesterday," close quote. 

16 Do you see that? 

17 A. Yes. 

18 Q. To what were you referring, Ms. Cotter, 

19 when you said to your brother that he should be --

20 that if you were him, you would be more concerned 

21 about getting your position squared away? 

22 A. I believe he was already told by the 

23 board that he would be terminated. 

24 Q. And to what were you referring ~n the 

25 last sentence when you said, 
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Page 273 
1 "What is the status of the 

2 paperwork we sent to you 

3 yesterday?" 

4 A. It was the revised settlement. 

5 Q. Meaning the revised settlement agreement 

6 that Sussman sent to Streisand? 

7 A. That's correct. 

8 Q. And so was the point of this your 

9 telling your brother that he needed to finalize the 

10 settlement paperwork or he would be terminated --

11 MR. SEARCY: Objection. 

12 BY MR. KRUM: 

13 Q. and that he should be focused on --

14 let me finish. 

15 Okay. Was the point of this email to 

16 tell your brother he should be focused on completing 

17 a settlement and preserving his job rather than hire 

18 another employee? 

19 MR. SEARCY: Objection. Misstates the 

20 testimony, lacks foundation, is argumentative. 

21 THE WITNESS: Can you repeat the 

22 question. 

23 BY MR. KRUM: 

24 Q. Sure. 

25 MR. KRUM: Actually I'll have the court 
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1 reporter read it back for you. 

2 THE WITNESS: Okay. 

3 (Whereupon the question was read 

4 as follows: 

5 "Question: Was the point of this 

6 email to tell your brother he 

7 should be focused on completing a 

8 settlement and preserving his job 

9 rather than hire another 

10 employee?" ) 

11 MR. SEARCY: Objection. Argumentative, 

12 vague, lacks foundation. 

13 THE WITNESS: No. 

14 BY MR. KRUM: 

15 Q. What was the point? 

16 A. To focus on himself and -- to focus on 

17 himself and try and save his job. 

18 Q. By doing what? 

19 MR. SEARCY: Objection. Vague, plus 

20 argumentative. 

21 MR. KRUM: It's actually an open-ended 

22 question. 

23 BY MR. KRUM: 

24 Q. But go ahead, Ms. Cotter? 

25 A. I don't put by doing what In here. 
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1 
Page 275 

MR. SEARCY: So, Mark, if you're close 

2 to finishing, it's about 6:22 right now. 

3 MR. KRUM: Yeah. We should finish up by 

4 6:30 if not before. 

5 BY MR. KRUM: 

6 Q. Ms. Cotter, directing your attention to 

7 your testimony of a moment ago to the effect that 

8 your brother already had been told by the board that 

9 he would be terminated, do you have that in mind? 

10 A. Do I have my statement in mind? 

11 Q. Yeah. I just want to direct your 

12 attention to that. 

13 A. Yes. 

14 Q. And what was it you understood your 

15 brother needed to do, if anything, as of June 4, 

16 2015, to avoid being terminated? 

17 A. I believe at that point there was a --

18 we had collectively agreed that we would resolve 

19 this dispute and the lawyers put together a 

20 settlement. 

21 We told the board that we resolved it 

22 and that we're going to put it in the hands of the 

23 lawyers. And we revised the settlement. 

24 I don't know if it was -- I don't know 

25 if we revised it because my brother asked for 
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1 additional things or if we just decided to throw in, 

2 you know, additional elements of the settlement, but 

3 that's where we were on June 4th. 

4 Q. When you refer to "this dispute," you're 

5 referring to the trust disputes? 

6 MR. SEARCY: Objection. Vague. 

7 BY MR. KRUM: 

8 Q. Well, let me ask an open-ended question. 

9 In your last response you referred to 

10 resolving this dispute. 

11 To what were you referring when you said 

12 "this dispute"? 

13 A. There were elements of the trust dispute 

14 and there were also some terms regarding going 

15 forward in the company in the settlement. 

16 Q. SO what had transpired is that at a 

17 reconvened a supposed reconvened telephonic board 

18 meeting, Ellen reported that you and Ellen had 

19 reached a resolution with your brother and that the 

20 lawyers were going to prepare the paperwork; is that 

21 correct? 

22 MR. SEARCY: Objection. Vague. 

23 THE WITNESS: Which -- when are you 

24 referring to? 

25 III 
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1 BY MR. KRUM: 

2 Q. Okay. Do you recall that there was a 

3 Friday where there was a board meeting that convened 

4 in the morn1ng or early afternoon and that that 

5 supposed board meeting adjourned and supposedly 

6 reconvened in a telephonic meeting at about 

7 6 o'clock in the evening? 

8 A. That's correct. 

9 Q. And do you recall that on the 

10 telephonic or on the telephone call, Ellen 

11 reported that a tentative agreement had been struck 

12 by you and her on one hand and by your brother on 

13 the other? 

14 A. I don't know if she said "tentative." 

15 Q. Okay. Do you recall that she reported 

16 that an agreement had been reached? 

17 A. Yes. 

18 Q. And the agreement was between you and 

19 her on one hand and your brother on the other hand? 

20 A. Yes. 

21 Q. And that 1n Exhibit 156, when you asked 

22 your brother, quote, "What is the status of the 

23 paperwork we sent you yesterday," close quote, 

24 you're referring to the paperwork that Sussman sent 

25 to Streisand about the agreement that Ellen had 
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1 reported during the 6:00 P.M. telephone call we just 

2 discussed, right? 

3 MR. SEARCY: Objection. Vague, lacks 

4 foundation. 

5 THE WITNESS: No. 

6 BY MR. KRUM: 

7 Q. Okay. To what are you referring, then? 

8 A. This is the revised settlement. This 

9 was not -- this settlement offer that I'm referring 

10 to in this email was not the settlement that my 

11 sister was referring to on that telephonic board 

12 meeting. 

13 Q. Okay. 

14 MR. SEARCY: So, Mr. Krum, I can tell by 

15 the way my witness is slouching in her seat that 

16 we're reaching the end here. 

17 MR. KRUM: We'll be there In a minute. 

18 BY MR. KRUM: 

19 Q. So, that settlement that 

20 documentation was not accepted by your brother, 

21 correct? 

22 MR. SEARCY: Objection. Vague. 

23 MR. FERRARIO: Obviously. We're here. 

24 THE WITNESS: That's correct. 

25 /// 

Litigation Services 800-330-1112 
www.litigationservices.com 

050 
001702



MARGARET COTTER, VOLUME I - 05/12/2016 

Page 279 
1 BY MR. KRUM: 

2 Q. And then -- and then he was terminated 

3 after that, right? 

4 MR. SEARCY: Objection. Vague, lacks 

5 foundation. 

6 THE WITNESS: My brother was terminated 

7 on June 12th. 

8 MR. KRUM: Okay. So let's adjourn for 

9 the day. 

10 VIDEOTAPE OPERATOR: This concludes the 

11 deposition of Margaret Cotter, volume one, May 12, 

12 2016, which consists of four media files. 

13 The original media files will be 

14 retained by Hutchings Litigation Services. 

15 Off the video record at 6:30 P.M. 

16 

17 (Whereupon at 6:30 P.M. the 

18 deposition proceedings were 

19 continued to May 13, 2016 at 

20 9:00 A.M.) 

21 * * * 

22 

23 

24 

25 
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1 REPORTER'S CERTIFICATE 

2 

3 I, PATRICIA L. HUBBARD, do hereby certify: 

4 

5 That I am a duly qualified Certified 

6 Shorthand Reporter In and for the State of California, 

7 holder of Certificate Number 3400, which is in full 

8 force and effect, and that I am authorized to 

9 administer oaths and affirmations; 

10 

11 That the foregoing deposition testimony of 

12 the herein named witness, to wit, MARGARET COTTER, was 

13 taken before me at the time and place herein set 

14 forth; 

15 

16 That prior to being examined, MARGARET 

17 COTTER was duly sworn or affirmed by me to testify the 

18 truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth; 

19 

20 That the testimony of the witness and all 

21 objections made at the time of examination were 

22 recorded stenographically by me and were thereafter 

23 transcribed by me or under my direction and 

24 supervlslon; 

25 
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1 That the foregoing pages contain a full, 

2 true and accurate record of the proceedings and 

3 testimony to the best of my skill and ability; 

4 

5 I further certify that I am not a relative 

6 or employee or attorney or counsel of any of the 

7 parties, nor am I a relative or employee of such 

8 attorney or counsel, nor am I financially interested 

9 in the outcome of this action. 

10 

11 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have subscribed my 

12 

13 

14 

15 
PATRICIA L. HUBBARD, CSR #3400 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 
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1 suggestion by one of the directors, Bill Gould might 

2 have said, "Jim, how about we keep you as president 

3 and we get a new C.E.O.?" 

4 And I then said, "Jim, and then you can 

5 get your training over the next five years and gain 

6 more experience and possibly you become C.E.O. In 

7 another five years." 

8 And I remember my brother thanked 

9 everyone and said he'll think about it. 

10 Q. That's your recollection as to how that 

11 meeting ended? 

12 A. Yes. 

13 Q. And then the next meeting occurred how 

14 much later? 

15 A. I don't recall the date or how far it 

16 was. But I believe at that meeting that there was 

17 more discussion on his termination and the reasons 

18 why. 

19 And there came a time when there was 

20 a -- a discussion about possibly ending it all, 

21 meaning we would end the trust litigation, we would 

22 end, you know, our disputes within the company. 

23 And we dismissed the non-Cotters at some 

24 point, and my brother, I and my sister sat in a room 

25 and we talked about the company, working together. 
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1 We talked about the -- the trust dispute that we 

2 had. 

3 And we I mean I think this was gOlng 

4 on for like three or four hours. 

5 And we reached a settlement that we all 

6 agreed upon. We called the board back -- or the 

7 board told us that we would reconvene at 6:00. And 

8 at 6 o'clock we told the board that we all reached 

9 an agreement. 

10 And the board congratulated us and said 

11 let's move forward. 

12 Q. And then what happened? 

13 A. I think that our -- my lawyer, my 

14 sister's lawyer and I -- mine, our trust attorney 

15 put together a settlement offer that -- that we had 

16 given him In writing saying this is what we all 

17 decided. 

18 He put it -- he put together an 

19 agreement, and he forwarded it over to my brother's 

20 attorney, to his trust attorney. 

21 Q. Sussman to Streisand, yours to his? 

22 A. Sussman to Streisand, correct. 

23 Q. I'm sorry. Please continue. 

24 A. And I don't -- I don't know what 

25 happened with that settlement, but then there was a 
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1 REPORTER'S CERTIFICATE 

2 

3 I, PATRICIA L. HUBBARD, do hereby certify: 

4 

5 That I am a duly qualified Certified 

6 Shorthand Reporter In and for the State of California, 

7 holder of Certificate Number 3400, which is in full 

8 force and effect, and that I am authorized to 

9 administer oaths and affirmations; 

10 

11 That the foregoing deposition testimony of 

12 the herein named witness, to wit, MARGARET COTTER, was 

13 taken before me at the time and place herein set 

14 forth; 

15 

16 That prlor to being examined, MARGARET 

17 COTTER was duly sworn or affirmed by me to testify the 

18 truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth; 

19 

20 That the testimony of the witness and all 

21 objections made at the time of examination were 

22 recorded stenographically by me and were thereafter 

23 transcribed by me or under my direction and 

24 supervision; 

25 
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1 That the foregoing pages contain a full, 

2 true and accurate record of the proceedings and 

3 testimony to the best of my skill and ability; 

4 

5 I further certify that I am not a relative 

6 or employee or attorney or counsel of any of the 

7 parties, nor am I a relative or employee of such 

8 attorney or counsel, nor am I financially interested 

9 in the outcome of this action. 

10 

11 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have subscribed my 

12 name this 17th day of May, 2016. 

13 

14 

15 
PATRICIA L. HUBBARD, CSR #3400 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 
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Page 191 
1 lacks foundation. 

2 THE WITNESS: I didn't -- I don't recall 

3 that part of the -- of the meeting after we were --

4 ended. 

5 BY MR. KRUM: 

6 Q. Do you recall that the -- that that 

7 evening there was a conference call during which 

8 Ellen Cotter reported that she and Margaret on one 

9 hand and Jim Cotter, Jr., on the other hand had 

10 reached a tentative settlement that resolved the 

11 trust and estate litigation and disputes between 

12 them and included certain items relating to the 

13 governance of RDI? 

14 MR. SEARCY: Objection. Vague. 

15 THE WITNESS: I recall a phone call or 

16 something saying they had reached an agreement. I 

17 don't recall what they had reached or what it 

18 involved, but an agreement whereby they would work 

19 together going forward. 

20 BY MR. KRUM: 

21 Q. And do you recall that as a result of 

22 that, the vote to terminate Jim Cotter, Jr., as 

23 president and C.E.O. was not had? 

24 A. Correct, it was not had then. 

25 Q. And do you recall that a week or ten 

Litigation Services 800-330-1112 
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Page 192 
1 days later when no agreement between Ellen and 

2 Margaret Cotter on one hand and Jim Cotter, Jr., on 

3 the other had come to pass or into existence that 

4 the supposed board meeting was reconvened on 

5 June 12, comma -- June 12, 2015 and that the vote 

6 was had and he was terminated as president and 

7 C.E.O.? 

8 A. Yes. 

9 MR. SEARCY: Objection. Vague, assumes 

10 facts. 

11 THE WITNESS: I recall that, yes. 

12 BY MR. KRUM: 

13 Q. And did you ever communications with 

14 Ellen or Margaret Cotter during the course of these 

15 supposed board meetings regarding whether a 

16 settlement of any sort had been reached with Jim 

17 Cotter, Jr.? 

18 MR. SEARCY: Objection. Argumentative. 

19 THE WITNESS: I may have. 

20 BY MR. KRUM: 

21 Q. What's your best recollection about what 

22 you communicated with them and what they 

23 communicated to you? 

24 A. I can't recall directly. My 

25 communications by that time were all with Jim 
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Page 193 
1 Cotter, Jr. 

2 But I know there were other emails. 

3 Q. And what communications did you have 

4 with Jim Cotter, Jr., regarding a resolution with 

5 his sisters during the time frame commencing with 

6 the supposed board meeting of May 20, 2015, through 

7 the supposed board meeting of June 12, 2015? 

8 MR. SEARCY: Objection. Argumentative. 

9 THE WITNESS: I was told that -- and it 

10 may have been by one of the Cotter sisters, that --

11 and in fact at a meeting, one of the last meetings 

12 we had, my recollection is Bill Gould suggested that 

13 Jim take the title of president, giving up the 

14 C.E.O. He refused. 

15 Then Margaret Cotter -- and that may 

16 have been the May 29th -- said, "No. Keep the title 

17 of C.E.O., and we'll have a committee, executive 

18 committee, Margaret, Ellen, Jimmy" -- and initially 

19 they said Guy Adams -- and he would keep the title 

20 because it was important to him. 

21 And I communicated with him. He--

22 usually my communications were not me advising. It 

23 was him asking my advice or they'd ask my advice. I 

24 didn't want to lecture them and tell them what to 

25 do. 
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1 
Page 194 

I -- I said to him at one point, "Take 

2 it. You have nothing to lose. You're going to get 

3 terminated if you don't. If you can work it out 

4 with your sisters, it will go on and I will support 

5 you. I'll even make a motion to see if the company 

6 will reimburse the legal fees." 

7 I did not want him to go. 

8 And you, I'm sure, see emails In there 

9 to that effect. Even though I voted was voting 

10 against him, I wanted him to stay as C.E.O. 

11 BY MR. KRUM: 

12 Q. If you wanted him to stay as C.E.O. --

13 A. Right. 

14 Q. -- why did you vote against him? 

15 A. Because I wanted him to stay as C.E.O., 

16 working with his sisters who were work -- willing to 

17 work with him for the benefit of the company. 

18 And to me it was a wonderful solution, 

19 and it had no adverse impact. If it didn't work 

20 out, then we would deal with it. But he would work 

21 with them and -- as an executive committee. 

22 He told me that he didn't want Guy Adams 

23 on there. And I told him, "I'll do my best to make 

24 sure that he isn't on that; just you and your 

25 sisters." 

Litigation Services 800-330-1112 
www.litigationservices.com 

069 
001724



EDWARD KANE - 05/02/2016 

Page 195 
1 And if they could work together, that's 

2 all we wanted. 

3 Q. Are you drawing a distinction, Mr. Kane, 

4 between Ellen and Margaret working with Jim 

5 Cotter, Jr., as distinct from working for him? 

6 MR. SEARCY: Objection. Vague. 

7 THE WITNESS: I don't think I ever made 

8 that distinction, but I think he would glean and 

9 learn a lot working with them. 

10 After all they were the operating 

11 executives of this company. 

12 BY MR. KRUM: 

13 Q. And did you understand that -- strike 

14 that. 

15 But that resolution did not come to pass 

16 because Jim Cotter, Jr., rejected it, correct? 

17 

18 

MR. SEARCY: Objection. Vague. 

THE WITNESS: He rejected it, yes. 

19 (Whereupon Ms. Bannett left the 

20 deposition proceedings at this 

21 time.) 

22 BY MR. KRUM: 

23 Q. And he got himself terminated, right? 

24 MR. SEARCY: Objection. Vague. 

25 THE WITNESS: Yes. 

Litigation Services 800-330-1112 
www.litigationservices.com 

070 
001725



EDWARD KANE - 05/02/2016 

Page 198 
1 That the foregoing pages contain a full, 

2 true and accurate record of the proceedings and 

3 testimony to the best of my skill and ability; 

4 

5 I further certify that I am not a relative 

6 or employee or attorney or counsel of any of the 

7 parties, nor am I a relative or employee of such 

8 attorney or counsel, nor am I financially interested 

9 in the outcome of this action. 

10 

11 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have subscribed my 

12 name this 4th day of May, 2016. 

13 

14 

15 
PATRICIA L. HUBBARD, CSR #3400 

16 

17 
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19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 
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Page 33 
1 remaln as executives of the company, then they were 

2 going to have to put that aside when dealing with 

3 company lssues. 

4 Obviously, as this e-mail speaks out, the 

5 litigation or the circumstance surrounding litigation 

6 raised all sorts of issues. But, you know, as I said 

7 earlier, my Vlew from a strict point -- corporate 

8 point of view was that, leaving aside the issue of 

9 how it would affect shareholding, it wasn't really a 

10 matter that it should impinge on the operation of the 

11 company. 

12 Q. Did you and Bill Gould meet with --

13 separately with Jim Cotter, Jr., on the one hand, 

14 and then Margaret and Ellen, either together or 

15 individually, at Mr. Gould's offices, at some 

16 point, in and around March of 2015? 

17 MR. SEARCY: Objection. Vague. 

18 A. I recollect those meetings. I can't say I 

19 remember exactly when they were, but I'm sure they 

20 would have been around that time. 

21 BY MR. KRUM: 

22 Q. Well, let me backtrack. How did those 

23 meetings come to pass? 

24 A. The my memory lS that there had been 

25 some discussions between all of the independent 
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Page 34 
1 directors as to how to progress matters. And that 

2 we had resolved to establish -- I think this is the 

3 occasion where a further statement was to establish 

4 this ombudsman, or whatever the term was, very 

5 difficult to find a term for it. 

6 But we wanted to say to all three Cotters 

7 that we had resolved as independent directors to 

8 ask me to do what I could to assist in progressing 

9 matters as a representative of the independent 

10 directors. So my recollection is that we asked Jim 

11 and the others to come in separately to hear that 

12 and to gauge their reaction. 

13 Q. And by "the others," you are referring to 

14 Margaret and Ellen? 

15 A. Yes, I think that's right. I mean, 

16 certainly we -- I can't quite remember whether 

17 Margaret was physically there, but certainly we 

18 communicated with both of them. 

19 Q. What was -- what was communicated to -- to 

20 Ellen and to Margaret, whether together or 

21 separately? 

22 A. I don't recollect the detail, but it would 

23 have been along the lines of the resolution by the 

24 independent directors to -- of the independent 

25 directors having asked me to spend some time --
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1 THE REPORTER: 
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I'm sorry. Directors to? 

2 THE WITNESS: Of the independent directors 

3 had asked me to spend some time, to see if I could 

4 advance matters as a representative of the board 

5 between the three Cotters. 

6 BY MR. KRUM: 

7 Q. When you say "advance matters between the 

8 three Cotters," to what does that refer? 

9 A. Well, I think I Bill and I were, and I 

10 think all the independent directors assumed to 

11 observe the difference between governance and 

12 management. So I think we took the view that the 

13 CEO and the senlor executives needed some 

14 assistance to move forward with plans and managlng 

15 the company. 

16 So primarily, my Vlew, it's a matter of 

17 assisting In a corporate sense. But, agaln, 

18 clearly there were the personal issues between the 

19 Cotters, that were going to be there anyway. So 

20 predominantly for me it was important not to 

21 overstep the matter of -- between governance and 

22 management. And, secondly, to concentrate more on 

23 doing, addressing corporate issues, rather than the 

24 personal lssues. 

25 Q. By "corporate," you are referring to plans 
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1 and strategic plans and budgets, those sort of 

2 things? 

3 A. Yes. And ensurlng that the executives 

4 could function together as a team and not be -- and 

5 put aside differences and act as proper corporate 

6 executives. 

7 Q. What did you and/or Mr. Gould tell Ellen 

8 and/or Margaret, if anything, regarding the length 

9 of time you would be serving in the role of 

10 ombudsman? 

11 A. The intent was to see if this approach 

12 would work over a period of time until the end of 

13 until June, end of June is my recollection. And 

14 at that point, if we hadn't made progress, if the 

15 progress was not made, then the matter would have 

16 to be relooked at. 

17 Q. When you say that was the intent, was that 

18 timetable what was communicated by you and/or Bill 

19 Gould to one or both of Ellen and Margaret? 

20 MR. SEARCY: Objection. Vague. 

21 A. I don't recollect specifically that, but 

22 I'm sure that's what would have been said. 

23 BY MR. KRUM: 

24 Q. Was Mr. -- was Jim Cotter told that by 

25 you? 
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1 A. I don't specifically recollect saylng 

2 that, but I'm sure that would have been said. It 

3 was a -- it was an important part of the decision 

4 the independent directors made as to how to -- how 

5 to try and progress things. 

6 Q. I'm sorry. What was an important part of 

7 the decision that the independent directors made? 

8 A. That we had a reasonably -- we had a 

9 reasonable time frame In which we could see -- we 

10 can see that the process was working, that they 

11 were getting on, that things were moving forward. 

12 Clearly, if that wasn't achieved, then we would 

13 have to relook at how we thought it best that the 

14 management of the company should progress. 

15 Q. Was it your understanding, at the time, 

16 Mr. Storey, that each of the five non-Cotter 

17 directors had agreed that you would serve in the 

18 role as ombudsman to the end of June and that an 

19 assessment would be made at that point? 

20 MR. SEARCY: Objection. Lacks foundation. 

21 It's vague. Calls for speculation. 

22 A. It was the resolution we made. 

23 BY MR. KRUM: 

24 Q. When you say it was the resolution you 

25 made, do you mean that was the -- that that was 
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1 what the five non-Cotter directors discussed and 

2 agreed? 

3 MR. SEARCY: Objection. Lacks foundation. 

4 A. It was what we agreed. 

5 BY MR. KRUM: 

6 Q. Did you ever hear or learn, or were you 

7 ever told that any of the five non-Cotter directors 

8 ever claimed that they had never approved you 

9 serv1ng the ombudsman role? 

10 A. My answer to that lS that they all agreed. 

11 I would never have taken what I thought was a 

12 pretty unusual position. I would not have taken 

13 that role without clear endorsement by all of the 

14 independent board members. I was getting -- you 

15 know, I had lots of other things to do. I didn't 

16 really anticipate -- well, I was happy to do as 

17 requested to see if we could advance things. But I 

18 would never have taken the role had I thought there 

19 was any -- any question of not all of us agreelng 

20 to it. 

21 Q. Did Mr. Adams ever say to you, at any 

22 point in time, in words or substance, that he had 

23 not agreed to you serving in the ombudsman role? 

24 A. I don't recollect any such statement. In 

25 fact, my recollection, he was on phone calls 
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1 paragraph? 

2 A. I do. 

3 Q. And do you see that in the third line, and 

4 carry1ng over to the fourth line, you say as 

5 follows: "As directors, we can't just do what a 

6 shareholder asks or do what we think a shareholder 

7 might want, not to mention that at the moment there 

8 remains significant uncertainty as to the ultimate 

9 identity of some shareholders." 

10 Do you see that? 

11 A. I do. 

12 Q. Was it your V1ew that one or more of the 

13 non-Cotter directors were, 1n part, or in total, 

14 doing what they thought Ellen and Margaret wanted? 

15 MR. SEARCY: Objection. Lacks foundation. 

16 Calls for speculation. 

17 A. Ed Kane had expressed to me, on a number 

18 of occasions, that we should -- that Margaret and 

19 Ellen were the shareholders and that they had 

20 control and that we needed to take direction from 

21 shareholders. And my point was that -- or my view 

22 to that was that we weren't to act at the direction 

23 of shareholders and that we needed to make 

24 decisions as a board. 

25 And as I say In this part of the comment 
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1 In this note, lS to say we need to act as a board, 

2 and we need to act properly to come to a decision. 

3 And we need to address ourselves to the appropriate 

4 question. So, yes, my Vlew was, at times, Mr. Kane 

5 was of the Vlew that we would simply -- we should 

6 just simply be acting as director -- well, acting 

7 In a manner consistent with what he believed the 

8 shareholder required. 

9 BY MR. KRUM: 

10 Q. And by the shareholders -- shareholder, 

11 you are referring to Ellen and Margaret? 

12 MR. SEARCY: Objection. Argumentative and 

13 vague. Lacks foundation. 

14 A. Well, he -- I think he took that Vlew, but 

15 as I say here, there remains uncertainty as to the 

16 ultimate identity of some shareholders. It seemed 

17 to me that it was a difficult proposition to do, 

18 even if that was an appropriate response. At this 

19 point, given litigation, we didn't know who the --

20 we didn't know for certain who the shareholder was. 

21 BY MR. KRUM: 

22 Q. Mr. Storey, I show you what previously was 

23 marked at Exhibit 131. 

24 A. Yes, I have read the document. 

25 Q. Did you send Exhibit 131 on or about the 
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THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We are on the record. 

2 The time is 12:03. 

3 BY MR. KRUM: 

4 Q. Mr. Storey, the court reporter has handed 

5 you what's been marked as Exhibit 416. Take as 

6 much time as you would like to review the document. 

7 The only portion I'm going to inquire is on page 6 

8 of 8. That is the approval of the minute section, 

9 so you would want to read that. 

10 (Deposition Exhibit 416 was marked for 

11 identification by the reporter and lS 

12 attached hereto.) 

13 A. Yes, I have read that section. 

14 BY MR. KRUM: 

15 Q. Okay. First of all, do you recall any of 

16 the RDI board of directors, on or about August 4, 

17 2015, the supposed minutes from prior meetings, 

18 including May 21, and 29, and June 12, and 30, were 

19 presented for approval? 

20 A. I remember in general terms, yes. 

21 Q. Do you recall Mr. Cotter making comments 

22 to the effect that the minutes were not -- were not 

23 accurate and that insufficient time had been 

24 provided to reviewing comment on it? 

25 A. I do. 
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And what, if anything, did you say with 

2 respect to the minutes? 

3 A. From memory, my vlew was that we were 

4 recelvlng complex minutes a long time after the 

5 meetings were held. The minutes had clearly been 

6 reviewed by a number of parties, including, as I 

7 understood, legal counsel; and that, frankly, I 

8 neither had the time nor the inclination to go 

9 through and attempt to change them so they 

10 reflected more accurately what I thought had 

11 occurred. 

12 My Vlew was that they had been unprepared 

13 purposely, and not a lot of benefit was going to be 

14 there, if I sat there and spent a considerable 

15 amount of time trying to adjust them. So I didn't 

16 want to do so and simply abstained for that reason. 

17 Q. When you said, Mr. Storey, that you 

18 thought they had been prepared purposely, you mean 

19 purposely for some purpose other than to simply 

20 memorialize what transpired? 

21 MR. SEARCY: Objection. Calls for 

22 opinion. Calls for speculation. 

23 MS. HENDRICKS: Join. 

24 A. I thought that they had been written 

25 carefully, to ensure they properly reflected the 
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1 A. You mean internal counsel or external? 

2 Q. Either one. 

3 A. My recollection lS that I spoke -- I think 

4 I spoke to Craig Tompkins to see where are the 

5 minutes, or maybe Bill Ellis, I guess. But my 

6 recollection is that the reason the minutes weren't 

7 being distributed was that they were going to --

8 MS. BANNETT: I'm just going to interrupt 

9 to the extent that it reflects any conversation 

10 that you had with counsel, don't reveal any 

11 attorney-client communications. 

12 THE WITNESS: No. No. You can -- you can 

13 Jump In. 

14 A. Anyway, so I was told that the reason that 

15 I wasn't seeing, or the minutes weren't available 

16 promptly, is that they were going through an 

17 approval process and equally, I think so, was gOlng 

18 to the chairman. 

19 THE REPORTER: Going to? 

20 THE WITNESS: The chairman, chairperson. 

21 BY MR. KRUM: 

22 Q. So did you look at the draft minutes for 

23 the meetings of May 21, and 29, and June 12, 2015? 

24 A. Yes, I recollect I looked at them, and I 

25 thought that it would take me a considerable amount 
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1 of time to try and make them reflect what I thought 

2 had been said. And it seemed to me that I could do 

3 all that and probably get nowhere. And it was 

4 going to be a pointless exercise for me, sitting on 

5 the airplane for three hours or whatever, and that 

6 it seemed better to simply abstain. 

7 MR. KRUM: I will ask the court reporter 

8 to mark as Exhibit 417 a one-page document bearing 

9 production number GA 1439. It purports to be an 

10 October 19th e-mail from Ed Kane. 

11 (Deposition Exhibit 417 was marked for 

12 identification by the reporter and lS 

13 attached hereto.) 

14 A. Yes, I have read that. 

15 BY MR. KRUM: 

16 Q. Do you recogn1ze the subject matter of 

17 Exhibit 417? 

18 A. Yes, I do. 

19 Q. What's your recollection as to, if any, 

20 independent of Exhibit 417, as to how it came --

21 whether and how -- whether it came to pass that 

22 Ellen Cotter was paid an extra $50,000 on account 

23 of matters referenced 1n Exhibit 417? 

24 A. My recollection is that it was a Vlew that 

25 the company had given incorrect advice on various 
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1 STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

SS. 
2 COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES 

3 

4 I, GRACE CHUNG, RMR, CRR, CSR No. 6246, a 

5 Certified Shorthand Reporter in and for the County 

6 of Los Angeles, the State of California, do hereby 

7 certify: 

8 That, prior to being examined, the witness 

9 named in the foregoing deposition was by me duly 

10 sworn to testify the truth, the whole truth, and 

11 nothing but the truth; 

12 That said deposition was taken down by me 

13 in shorthand at the time and place therein named, 

14 and thereafter reduced to typewriting by 

15 computer-aided transcription under my direction. 

16 I further certify that I am not interested 

17 in the event of the action. 

18 In witness whereof, I have hereunto subscribed my 

19 name. 

20 Dated: August 10, 2016 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

GRACE CHUNG, CSR NO. bZ46 
RMR, CRR, CLR 
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1 in this note, is to say we need to act as a board, 

2 and we need to act properly to come to a decision. 

3 And we need to address ourselves to the appropriate 

4 question. So, yes, my view was, at times, Mr. Kane 

5 was of the Vlew that we would simply -- we should 

6 just simply be acting as director -- well, acting 

7 In a manner consistent with what he believed the 

8 shareholder required. 

9 BY MR. KRUM: 

10 Q. And by the shareholders -- shareholder, 

11 you are referring to Ellen and Margaret? 

12 MR. SEARCY: Objection. Argumentative and 

13 vague. Lacks foundation. 

14 A. Well, he -- I think he took that view, but 

15 as I say here, there remains uncertainty as to the 

16 ultimate identity of some shareholders. It seemed 

17 to me that it was a difficult proposition to do, 

18 even if that was an appropriate response. At this 

19 point, given litigation, we didn't know who the --

20 we didn't know for certain who the shareholder was. 

21 BY MR. KRUM: 

22 Q. Mr. Storey, I show you what previously was 

23 marked at Exhibit 131. 

24 A. Yes, I have read the document. 

25 Q. Did you send Exhibit 131 on or about the 
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1 date it bears, May 20, 2015? 

2 A. I did. 

3 Q. At the end of the first paragraph, you 

4 refer to Guy's apparent view that no discussion is 

5 necessary. Do you see that? 

6 A. I do. 

7 Q. To what does that refer? 

8 A. I think the sequence here lS that I spoke 

9 to Doug McEachern, and as I said earlier, he 

10 proffered his view, and I said to him, "You should 

11 talk to our lawyer to understand our duties as 

12 directors," which is why I have given him Neil 

13 Neil's number. 

14 And, secondly, I assume or I suspect that 

15 this e-mail follows the discussion I had with Guy, 

16 that I discussed earlier, about Guy's about his 

17 Vlew, even as both Ed and Guy were of the view that 

18 there was no point In any discussion at all, that 

19 the matter was simply going to be put, and that was 

20 that. 

21 Q. Let me show you what previously has been 

22 marked as Exhibit 98. 

23 A. You wish me to read this document? 

24 Q. Let me ask you a question first, and you 

25 can take such time as you wish to read it. 
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1 STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

SS. 
2 COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES 

3 

4 I, GRACE CHUNG, RMR, CRR, CSR No. 6246, a 

5 Certified Shorthand Reporter in and for the County 

6 of Los Angeles, the State of California, do hereby 

7 certify: 

8 That, prlor to being examined, the witness 

9 named in the foregoing deposition was by me duly 

10 sworn to testify the truth, the whole truth, and 

11 nothing but the truth; 

12 That said deposition was taken down by me 

13 In shorthand at the time and place therein named, 

14 and thereafter reduced to typewriting by 

15 computer-aided transcription under my direction. 

16 I further certify that I am not interested 

17 In the event of the action. 

18 In witness whereof, I have hereunto subscribed my 

19 name. 

20 Dated: August 10, 2016 

21 

22 

23 GRACE CHUNG, CSR NO. bZ46 
RMR, CRR, CLR 

24 

25 
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